A Final Report To

UNITED STATES AIR FORCE OFFICE OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH Bolling AFB, D.C. 20332

A FOUNDATION FOR SYSTEMS ANTHROPOMETRY Phase II

;

A FINAL REPORT FOR PHASE II OF CONTRACT #F44620-76-C-0015

HERBERT M. REYNOLDS, Ph.D. PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR

March 15, 1978

Prepared by

Highway Safety Research Institute The University of Michigan Ann Arbor 48109

• : -

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered)

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING F						
1. REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION NO.	3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER				
4. TITLE (and Subtitie) A FOUNDATION FOR SYSTEMS ANTHROPO PHASE II	METRY	 5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED Final Report 1 Dec 76 - 30 Sept 77 6. PERFORMING ORG, REPORT NUMBER 				
		UM - HSRI 78 - 11				
AUTHOR(*) Herbert M. Reynolds, James R. Fre Max Bender	eman	B. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(s) F44620-76-C-0115				
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS Highway Safety Research Institute The University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109	•	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS 61102F 2313/A4				
11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS Air Force Office of Scientific Re	search (NI)	12. REPORT DATE 15 March 1978				
Bolling AFB, DC 20332		13. NUMBER OF PAGES 89				
14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If differen	it from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)				
		UIICIDSSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING				
		SCHEDULE				
17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered	in Block 20, if different fro	om Report)				
18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES						
19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary ar	nd identify by block number)				
Anthropometry, Biomechanics, Kinematics, Human Engineering, Links, Joint Centers of Mobility, Anatomical Axes Systems, Anthropometric Landmarks, X-Ray Stereo-photogrammetry						
20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) This report describes the experimental procedures utilized at Highway Safety Research Institute and The Civil Aeromedical Institute in an investigation of the landmarks, axes systems, and joint properties necessary to describe the human body in three-dimensional space. The study at HSRI utilized three fresh cadavers in the study of the spatial relationship between internal and external landmarks in the lumbar/pelvic/femur region of the body. In addition, the motion characteristics of the hip joint in flexion-extension, abduction-						

adduction, and internal-external rotation were investigated. The study at CAMI is using 150 male and 150 female osteological specimens from the Hamann-Todd skeletal collection to investigate the three-dimensional variability of landmark locations in the pelvis. Data are presented in tabular and graphical forms.

In general, the results of this program to date can be summarized as follows:

 Biological variability must be considered as a set of probabilistic phenomena in deterministic biomechanical models.

2) Body position and mobility must be considered simultaneously in three-dimensional space.

3) Data collection and analysis must incorporate the use of anatomical frames of reference defined by functionally significant landmarks in the skeletal system.

4) Body position can be defined by the location of anatomical frames of reference, and body mobility can be defined by relative motion between adjacent anatomical frames of reference.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to gratefully acknowledge the many people who have given their encouragement and assistance in this research program. We would like to especially thank Mr. Charles Clauser and Dr. Kenneth Kennedy at the Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, for their support and extremely helpful guidance as Technical Monitors during the course of the research program.

In addition, a very unique relationship has developed between this research program and a related program at the Civil Aeromedical Institute in Oklahoma City. Dr. Clyde Snow, Chief of the Physical Anthropology Unit in the Protection and Survival Laboratory, and Dr. Reynolds are investigating the geometry of the human pelvis as a cooperative research program. Without this research arrangement, much of the progress obtained to date in systems anthropometry would have not been possible.

During the preparation of this manuscript, Dr. Robert Hubbard, Mr. Charles Clauser, and Dr. Kenneth Kennedy gave excellent advice which greatly improved the report. We would also like to gratefully acknowledge the expert typing of Arvilla Bolley and Cheryl Luft in the Department of Biomechanics, Michigan State University. In addition, the artistic ability of Doris Sáenz has been greatly appreciated.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

																F	age
List	t of ⁻	Tables .			• •	• •	•		•	•	•••	•	•	•	•	•	vi
List	tofl	Figures.		•••	•••				•	•		•		•	•	• '	vii
1.	Intro	oduction	to Sy	vstems !	Anthr	ropo	met	ry.	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	1
2.	Resea	arch Meth	nodolo	gy			•		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	5
	2.1	Subjects	5	•••			•		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	5
		2.1.1.	HSRI	Subjec	ts .		•		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	5
		2.1.2.	CAMI	Subjec [.]	ts.		•		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	10
	2.2	Three-D	imens ⁻	ional M	easui	reme	nt	Tec	:hn	iqu	es.	•	•	•	•	•	14
		2.2.1.	HSRI	Instru	menta	atio	n.		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	14
		2.2.2.	CAMI	Instru	menta	atio	n.		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	19
3.	Phas	e II Rese	earch	Result	s				•	•		•	•	•	•	•	21
	3.1	Investi	gation	ı invol	ving	fre	sh	cac	lave	ers	at	HS	SRI	[.	•	•	21
		3.1.1.	Surfa inves	ace-Int stigati	erna on .	1 la 	ndn •	nark	(C(orr •	ela 	tio	on •	•	•	•	21
		3.1.2.	Inves the	stigati nip joi	on o [.] nt .	f re 	lat	tive 	e s:	egm	ent	m •	ot [.]	ior •	ו ה י	at	24
	3.2	Investi CAMI	gation 	ns invo 	lvin	gsk 	ele	etal 	l ma	ate	ria 	1.	at	•	•	•	49
		3.2.1.	Skele mark	etal va locati	riat on .	ion 	in	ana	to.	nic	al.	1a:	nd.		•	•	49

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
4.	Sum	mary and Recommendations	. 59
	4.1	. Summary of Phase II Research	. 59
	4.2	. Recommendations for Systems Anthropometry Research	. 63
		4.2.1. Instrumentation	. 63
		4.2.2. Future Research	. 65
5.	Lis	t of References	. 67
6.	Арре	endix	. 69
	Α.	Cadaver Anthropometry	. 69
		A.1. List of Landmark Definitions	. 69
		A.2. List of Measurement Definitions	. 71
	Β.	FORTRAN Program for Computing 3-D Coordinate Locations of Anthropometric Landmarks	. 79
	С.	Experimental Outline for Systems Anthropometry Data	. 86
	D.	Landmark Definitions used in X-Ray Stereo- Photogrammetry Study	. 89

•

:

LIST OF TABLES

.

Table		ł	Page
1.	Traditional anthropometry of fresh cadavers utilized in Phase II x-ray stereo-photogrammetry study		7
2.	Traditional anthropometry of male subjects measured from Hamman - Todd skeletal collection		12
3.	Summary of composite error for three calibrations		18
4.	Spatial geometry between internal and external landmarks		26
5.	Statistical analysis of error in trochanter landmarks' location		28
6.	3-D anthropometry for subject O4 in x-ray stereo- photogrammetry study		30
7.	3-D anthropometry for subject O6 in x-ray stereo- photogrammetry study		33
8.	3-D anthropometry for subject 07 in x-ray stereo- photogrammetry study		37
9.	Summary statistics of subset of Hamman-Todd male 3-D pelvic data		56

vi

LIST OF FIGURES

.

.

Figur	<u>e</u>	Page
1.	Diagram of primary, secondary, and tertiary axis system	4
2.	Body-size sampling scheme based on 1960-1962 HEW survey	11
3.	Schematic diagram of placement of calibration device during three test configurations	16
4.	Photograph of measurement instrumentation at CAMI	20
5.	Photocopy of radiograph showing landmarks in the hip region of subject 07	23
6.	Schematic diagram of internal-external landmark geometry within the pelvic axis system	25
7.	Path of Trochanterion relative to pelvic axis system during hip flexion in the sagital plane for subjects O4 and O7	43
8.	Path of Trochanterion relative to pelvic axis system during hip abduction in the frontal plane for subjects 04, 06, and 07	43
9.	Path of Trochanterion relative to pelvic axis system during hip rotation in the transverse plane for subjects 04, 06,and 07	44
10 a-	n. Sequential photographs of every fifth frame from a cineradiographic film of hip abduction for subject 07	45
11.	Projected schematic of sacrum showing midline landmarks	50
12.	Posterior view of sacrum showing midline and lateral landmarks	50
13.	Anterior view of sacrum showing midline and lateral landmarks	51
14.	Schematic view of sacro-iliac joint surface showing landmarks	51
15.	Lateral view of iliac crest showing landmarks	52
16.	Lateral view of innominate showing anterior and posterior iliac border landmarks	52

Figure	2	Page
17.	Medial view of innominate showing pelvic inlet landmarks	53
18.	Medial view of pubis showing landmarks	53
19.	Lateral view of acetabulum showing landmarks	54
20.	Medial view of innominate showing surface contour landmarks	54
21.	Lateral view of innominate showing surface contour landmarks	55
22.	Hamman - Todd Male 3-D data plotted relative to secondary axis system in the frontal plane	57
23.	Hamman - Todd male 3-D data plotted relative to secondary axis system in the transverse plane	58

1. INTRODUCTION TO SYSTEMS ANTHROPOMETRY

Traditional simulation concepts have considered the body as a series of interconnected rigid "mass-links." The anatomical foundation of this approach was laid by Braune and Fischer (1889, 1892) in their investigation of the biomechanics of body positions assumed by German infantrymen in the 19th century. Their results have led 20th century biomechanicists frequently to use mechanical analogues of human anatomy in their investigations of the dynamic human body. Of those 20th century investigators who continued to study and measure the anthropometric parameters for these mechanical analogues that simulate the human body, Dempster (1955) achieved the most comprehensive results. To advance significantly beyond Dempster's contributions, human body position and mobility must be studied and measured in the three-dimensional frame of reference with a more exact description of joint articulation, and the variation must be statistically analyzed for predictive models. Two-dimensional measurement techniques must be replaced with three-dimensional measurement techniques; the geometric description of human body position must incorporate probability statistics; and body mobility must have a kinematically complete characterization.

.

The acquisition of data from which an accurate three-dimensional prediction of body position and mobility can be obtained must be based upon functional and stable landmarks. These landmarks are palpable skeletal features that are consistently, not randomly, found on each individual in the population. Skeletal features, suitable for landmark definition, are found at the site of either a muscle's origin or insertion, which is mechanically the site of application of an internally generated force that produces motion of one bone relative to another. Recognition of this relationship in the musculo-skeletal system is

important for Systems Anthropometry only in that it provides the rationale for using axes systems based on an anatomical frame of reference. This insight into the etiology of our skeletal geometry may provide the means by which the kinematic properties of the human body are predicted. That is, since human body mobility is a function of muscular "forces" acting upon skeletal "links," the spatial position of the musculo-skeletal system should provide an independent variable which can predict mobility given the time-displacement parameters necessary for kinematic analyzes. This approach is unique to Systems Anthropometry and may provide the means by which predictive models achieve accurate results.

There are two major research questions posed relative to these landmarks. First, is there a defineable relationship between corresponding internal skeletal landmarks and the external projection of that skeletal feature that is located on the skin surface? If such a relationship can be defined, then investigations concerning body position and mobility on living subjects can be directed through the use of skeletal landmarks. In order to conduct such an investigation, a spatial relationship must be defined between corresponding internal and external landmarks.

Second, are these landmarks suitable for defining skeletally-based axes systems through which the effect of intra- and inter-individual differences on body position and mobility can be investigated? In order to accurately describe the position and orientation of a body segment through the use of a three-dimensional axis system, the definition of the axis system should be made using landmarks that are as far apart as possible on a single rigid bone. In addition, these landmarks must be accurately and reproducibly identified on each subject.

Systems Anthropometry has, therefore, approached the study of body position and mobility from the viewpoint that the human

body is a three-dimensional system composed of segments that move relative to each other. The basic descriptive mechanism is an anatomical frame of reference unique to each segment. Within these frames of reference, mass distribution properties and relative segment motion properties are located and oriented (Figure 1). The latter parameter is the primary focus for the research conducted under this program. That is, the current research program is investigating segment landmarks, segment axes systems based upon these landmarks, and motion description and prediction of one segment relative to an adjacent segment. In summary, body position will be defined by the location of threedimensional Cartesian coordinate axes systems based on skeletal landmarks, and body mobility will be defined by the relative motion between these axes systems.

The lumbar/pelvic/femur region has been the first part of the body to be investigated. The pelvis provides a basic skeletal geometry within which motion of the femur (thigh segment) can be described for the kinematically complete six degrees of freedom. The freedom of the hip joint to rotations about three orthogonal axes, and, to some extent, translation, provides a wide range of possible motion paths that are perhaps more extensive than can be represented by a ball-and-socket description. As a result, the mobility of the hip joint contains components that must be described within a probabilistic framework.

In summary, the present investigation is attempting to provide the methodology and selected data suitable for three-dimensional predictive simulations of whole-body position and mobility. These data are used, as pointed out in the 1st Interim Report to the Air Force Office of Scientific Research, in both simulations of impact and acceleration environments as well as workspace design problems.



Figure 1. Diagram of Primary, Secondary and tertiary axis systems.

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

2.1 Subjects

At Highway Safety Research Institute (HSRI), an investigation into the relationship between internal skeletal and external surface landmark locations, segment axes systems, and relative segment motion has used fresh cadavers.* In cooperation with Dr. Clyde C. Snow at the Civil Aeromedical Institute (CAMI) in Oklahoma City, osteological specimens, obtained on loan from the Hamann-Todd Skeletal Collection at the Cleveland Museum of Natural History, have been used in the investigation of the variability of skeletal landmarks for axis system definition.

Integration of the results from these two separate studies will utilize an anthropometric body-sizing scheme discussed in the 1st Interim Report. Anthropometric data are collected on each cadaver used in the radiographic investigation of three-dimensional body position and mobility. Similar anthropometric data are available on each cadaver represented in the Hamann-Todd skeletal collection. Thus, within the framework of a statistically defined set of bodysize categories, the two samples will be examined and compared thereby making the integration more sensitive to small differences in the data.

2.1.1 <u>HSRI</u> <u>Subjects</u>. Subjects used at HSRI were screened to avoid the use of any cadaver with any obvious pathology. In addition, subjects were selected with a low weight-toheight ratio (or "thinness") to enable improved x-ray imaging of internal target locations and ease of handling. The choice of thin cadavers does not necessarily affect the location of boney "linear" landmarks since there seems to be little relationship

^{*} The protocol for the use of cadavers in this study was reviewed by the Committee to Review Grants for Clinical Research and Investigation Involving Human Beings of The University of Michigan Medical Center and follows guidelines established by the U.S. Public Health Service and recommended by the National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council.

between linear boney measurements of boney landmark positions and body weight (see 1st Interim Report). Continuation of the research into the relationship of external surface landmarks and their associated internal skeletal features will, however, require the selection of subjects with soft tissue distribution more accurately representing the variation found in the living population.

Three male caucasian subjects were utilized in radiographic studies at HSRI (Subjects 04, 06, and 07). The subjects weighed 37.7, 43.3 and 42.3 kg ($\bar{x} = 41.1$ kg) and with statures of 170.1, 165.3 and 177.9 cm ($\bar{x} = 171.4$ cm) respectively. Subject 04 was 64 years at the time of death which was attributed to "generalized cancer." In addition, this subject had a midline ventral scar extending from the pubis to the tip of the xiphoid and he also had had a L5-S1 laminectomy. Subject 06 was 97 years at the time of death which was attributed to bilateral pneumonia. We received neither the age nor cause of death of subject 07 who appeared to be approximately 80 to 90 years at the time of death. Subjects 04, 06 and 07 were used in the stereo-radiographic investigation of landmarks, axes systems and relative segment motion while subject 07 was additionally used in the cineradio-graphic imaging study of motion in the hip joint.

Traditional anthropometric measurements were obtained on each of these cadavers. The data are reported in Table 1 and the measurement definition and techniques are included in Appendix A. These data were obtained shortly after the cadaver arrived at the laboratory which in general was within one week of death. There was no <u>rigor mortis</u> evident so that the cadavers were extremely flaccid.

TABLE 1

Traditional anthropometry of fresh cadavers utilized in Phase II x-ray stereo photogrammetry study. (Measurements in cm where applicable)

	Measurement	04	06	<u>07</u>
1	Haight (VC)	37 7	13 3	42 3
1.	Weight (KG)	37.7	45.5	42.5
*2.	Stature	170.1	105.3	1//.9
3.	Trochanterion Hgt	81.8	/6.8	81.2
4.	Symphysion Hgt	83.5	76.5	81.7
5.	ASIS Hgt	76.5	68.3	76.7
6.	Iliocristale Hgt	68.5	64.2	69.0
7.	Substernale Hgt	53.0	52.5	55.9
8.	Mid-Chest Hgt	42.3	40.5	43.7
9.	Suprasternale Hgt	32.2	28.8	32.0
10.	Acromion Hgt	24.2	25.5	25.7
11.	Mastoid Hgt	16.7	15.7	15.9
12.	Tragion Hgt	12.7	12.2	12.5
13.	Tragion Depth	8.5	7.5	
14.	Suprasternale Depth	16.1	15.9	15.2
15.	Mid-Chest Depth	18.1	19.6	17.4
16.	Substernale Depth	16.5	20.9	19.1
17.	ASIS Depth	16.3	13.2	15.2
18.	Symphysion Depth	16.1	17.2	16.1
19.	Suprasternale-Acromion Distance	20.2	20.1	22.4
20.	Biacromial Breadth	28.5	36.0	34.0
21.	Mid-Chest Breadth	27.5	26.1	26.5
22.	Chest Br. at Substernale	27.4	27.7	27.4
23.	Hip Br. at Iliocristale	27.1	28.2	27.5
24.	Bispinous Diameter	20.7	25.0	26.2
25.	ASIS-to-Symphysion Distance	12.6	15.4	14.0

١

*All composite body heights are measured as a distance from the top of the head.

	Measurement	04	06	<u>07</u>
26.	Bitrochanteric Breadth	30.3	28.4	29.3
27.	Acromion-Radiale Length	32.0	32.5	35.6
28.	Ball of Humerus-Radiale Length	29.3	30.6	33.6
29.	Radiale-Stylion Length	22.7	25.3	27.3
30.	Hand Length	18.6	18.3	19.4
31.	Hand Breadth	7.9	8.0	8.6
32.	Hand Thickness	2.9	2.3	2.6
33.	Wrist Breadth	5.7	5.1	5.5
34.	Forearm Depth	6.9	6.6	7.0
35.	Upper Arm Depth	5.8	8.6	7.4
36.	Femur Length	43.6	46.4	49.2
37.	Fibula Length	36.4	36.0	39.1
38.	Tibia Length		38.2	40.9
39.	Lower Leg Length	43.5	44.4	49.5
40.	Foot Length	26.1	24.2	26.4
41.	Foot Breadth	9.8	8.8	9.9
42.	Minimum Ankle Breadth	5.3	4.1	5.0
43.	Calf Depth	9.6	9.3	9.5
44.	Upper Thigh Breadth	9.3	11.4	12.4
45.	Head Breadth	16.0	16.1	15.4
46.	Head Length	18.6	19.8	20.6
47.	Bitragion Breadth	14.4	14.4	15.1
48.	Bigonial Breadth	10.7	9.6	10.2
49.	Mastoid-Crinion Length	16.4	16.4	15.2
50.	Head Circumference	55.2	58.3	58.0
51.	Mid-Sagittal Arc Length	37.0	32.5	34.0
52.	Bitragion-Coronal Arc Length	34.4	33.3	33.3
53.	Mid-Neck Circumference	31.8	36.9	31.5
54.	Chest Circumference at Mid-Chest	77.2	80.3	76.9
55.	Chest Circumference at Substernale	75.2	81.8	77.8
56.	Hip Circumference at Iliocristale	89.3	71.1	61.5

	Measurement	04	06	07
		70.0	76.0	
57.	Buttocks Circumference at Trochanterion	78.9	76.9	//./
58.	Upper Arm Circumference	14.6	20.5	16.8
59.	Maximum Forearm Circumference	19.5	18.7	19.2
60.	Minimum Wrist Circumference	14.1	13.7	14.6
61.	Upper Thigh Circumference	30.2	37.1	33.1
62.	Maximum Calf Circumference	24.9	25.5	23.2
63.	Minimum Ankle Circumference	18.8	17.0	17.5

•

2.1.2 <u>CAMI Subjects</u>. Research on the osteological specimens at CAMI is directed at obtaining population parameters on the geometry of the skeleton. The anatomist, Dr. T. W. Todd who collected the skeletons, obtained anthropometric information on each embalmed cadaver whose skeleton was included in the collection. The total collection consists of nearly 3000 human skeletons of documented age, sex, and race.

The osteological specimens currently being measured at CAMI were selected from the total 3000 subjects to match the 1960-1962 HEW US general population height/weight characteristics depicted in Figure 2. Each size-cell has an N=25 that represents as closely as possible the present US population in racial composition and age profile. In addition, each group of specimens sent to CAMI for measurement is representative of the total sample. Thus, the data presented in Table 2 consists of 26 males (average age = 49.4 yrs.) equally distributed among the six size-cells in Figure 2. These dimensions have been defined by Martin (1928) and are presented, as translated from the original German, in Garrett and Kennedy (1971).

The measurements in Table 2 represent the right side of the body. These measurements have been compared by definitions and found to be the same except in those cases that are noted by parenthese around the identification number which corresponds to the measurement definitions in Appendix A. There are additional measurements available on the specimens in the Hamann-Todd collection but only those that are comparable to the measurements obtained on fresh cadavers at HSRI are reported herein.





TABLE 2

Traditional anthropometry of male subjects measured from Hamann-Todd skeletal collection (Measurements in cm where applicable)

	Measurement	<u>N</u>	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Dev.
la.	Weight (actual in 1b.)	26	77.0	208.0	127.4	29.41
16.	Weight (adjusted in lb.)	26	110.0	254.0	171.7	29.41
*2.	Stature	26	145.2	193.8	173.0	11.17
3.	Trochanterion Hgt.	26	76.9	102.2	90.6	5.75
4.	Symphysion Hgt.	26	74.4	100.9	89.5	5.82
5.	ASIS Hgt.	26	81.1	108.7	96.5	6.42
9.	Suprasternale Hgt.	26	125.9	159.6	142.2	8.60
10.	Acromion Hgt.	26	126.9	166.9	144.2	8.95
20.	Biacronical Breadth	25	27.7	36.1	33.0	2.30
(21-22)	Chest Breadth	26	19.8	32.9	27.3	3.10
23.	Hip Breadth at Iliocristale	26	24.6	31.5	28.9	1.72
24.	Bispinous Diameter	26	19.8	26.4	23.8	1.57
27.	Acromion-Radiale Length	26	28.7	37.8	33.4	2.03
29.	Radiale-Stylian Length	26	20.7	30.0	25.6	1.94
30.	Hand Length	26	16.5	21.7	19.1	1.38
31.	Hand Breadth	26	6.9	9.7	8.0	0.56
(36)	Femur (thigh) Length	26	43.0	56.8	49.4	3.45
(38)	Femur (shank) Length	26	30.9	45.1	38.9	2.96
40.	Foot Length	25	12.8	29.2	24.2	3.01
41.	Foot Breadth	26	7.3	10.8	9.0	0.85
45.	Head Breadth	26	13.4	16.5	15.1	0.82
46.	Head Length	26	17.6	20.4	19.1	0.76
47.	Bitragion Breadth	25	11.4	17.0	12.6	1.04
48.	Bigonial Breadth	26	9.4	13.3	11.1	0.91
50.	Head Circumference	25	52.0	59.3	55.8	1.95

.

 $\ensuremath{^{\star All}}$ composite body heights are measured as a distance from the soles of the feet.

	Measurement	<u>N</u>	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Dev.
51.	Mid-Sagittal Arc Length	25	31.3	36.8	34.0	1.46
52.	Bitragion-Coronal Arc. L.	25	31.2	36.5	34.3	1.61
(54-55)	Chest Circ.	26	70.5	106.8	86.7	9.94
58.	Upper Arm Circ.	25	16.5	32.4	24.5	4.55
59.	Maximum Forearm Circ.	25	17.3	30.2	23.4	3.17
60.	Minimum Wrist Circ.	25	12.9	18.9	15.9	1.82
61.	Upper Thigh Circ.	25	33.2	64.3	47.2	7.81
62.	Maximum Calf Circ.	25	22.7	42.6	31.4	5.26
63.	Minimum Ankle Circ.	26	16.2	28.6	20.4	3.15

.

2.2 Three-Dimensional Measurement Techniques.

Measurement techniques employed at both HSRI and CAMI locate points in a three-dimensional Cartesian coordinate frame of reference. These points are anatomical landmarks that will be used to define the position and mobility of the human body. This section will therefore discuss primarily the equipment and characteristics of that equipment relative to what it measures and how accurately it can measure points in three-dimensional space.

2.2.1 <u>HSRI Instrumentation</u>. The basic measurement technique is quantitative stereo-radiography which consists of a pair of stereo-radiographs obtained within a controlled geometry. The x-y coordinate locations of each landmark in the corresponding stereo-pairs are combined in a computerized algorithm to produce the x-y-z coordinate locations of each landmark relative to the film reference system. These three-dimensional data are then transformed into an antomical axis system based on three landmarks on the specimen.

The HSRI x-ray system used in this work was not specifically configured for x-ray stereophotogrammetry. It consisted of a conventional moveable tube head and stand, with a clinical x-ray table and cassette holder. The measurement space of the stereo-radiographs was therefore limited to a 14" x 17" film format which restricted the anatomical region of study to landmarks in the lower lumbar vertebrae, pelvis and upper half of the femur. This was a major limitation to the study since it was impossible to obtain data on the complete thigh segment. The outline of the experiment in Appendix C therefore describes the sequence by which the data were obtained with the facility at HSRI and not the ideal sequence for a stereo-radiographic laboratory dedicated to Systems Anthropometry research.

Since the x-ray system at HSRI was not dedicated to Systems

Anthropometry, frequent re-positioning of the moveable components was a problem. A calibration device, described in the Interim Report, was constructed to serve two purposes: 1) to provide an array of points in space for which true values were available, and 2) to provide a measure of the spread, or repeatability, of reproducing the control points for numerous re-positionings of the x-ray facility components. Three calibration test conditions were studied as follows (See Figure 3):

 the calibration device was placed directly on the film cassette (Condition I), which was placed on the x-ray table surface; in this case, lines were drawn on the x-ray table surface, and on cassette surfaces to assure, as much as possible, replacement of device and cassette during production of stereopairs;

2) the calibration device was placed on the x-ray table surface (Condition II), and cassettes were placed in the normal cassette holder in the x-ray table; lines on the table to position the device, and markers on the table to position the cassette holder were used; this test condition represented ordinary, normal usage of the x-ray table;

3) the calibration device was placed on a specially constructed table (Condition III), to position subject specimens, and also contained a fixture beneath its surface to hold cassettes in a much more rigid and repeatable position than the normal cassette holder could; this table was clamped to the x-ray table.

In each of the above test conditions, the calibration device was reproduced in three dimensions by stereoradiographic analysis. These included points all in the upper plane, all in the lower plane, and between the upper and lower plane. A total of 270 separate distance determinations for the three test conditions and arrays of points in space was conducted, resulting in





111.



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of placement of calibration device during three test conditions: 1, 11 and 111 as described in text where A represents the calibration device, B the film cassette, C the clinical X-ray table, and D the HSRI constructed table. a single mean accuracy* value for each test condition. These values represent the composite of systematic and random error, without attempting to separate the magnitude of each error component. The results, presented in Table 3, show that the effort expended to assure rigid and repeatable positioning of the x-ray cassette did lead to an improvement in the composite accuracy. The third case in Table 3 shows that a 129 mm length in space could be determined to within 3.74 mm, and in many cases, even better than this, which was quite remarkable considering the difficulties encountered in the HSRI x-ray facility. Greater improvement could have been attained had the x-ray tube positioning been controlled more accurately, but this would have required structural modifications that were not feasible in view of the usage circumstances of the HSRI facility. For highly accurate coordinate determination in systems anthropometry, an x-ray facility properly configured and dedicated is required.

The radiographs obtained in this x-ray facility were digitized on a specially constructed light table using a mechanical desk-top digitizer with a resolution of 0.25 mm. The coordinate data were transmitted upon command into either a minicomputer at HSRI or the University of Michigan computer which calculated the three-dimensional coordinates of each landmark. The FORTRAN program is included as Appendix B.

In addition to the above clinical x-ray facility at HSRI, a cine-radiographic system was used to observe hip joint motion in a subject (#07) in order to observe the range and sequence of

*Accuracy is defined here as the ratio of the absolute magnitude of the difference between a measured value and its true value to the true value, expressed as a percent, as follows:

Percent accuracy = $\frac{|a' - a|}{a} \times 100$

where a' is the measured value, and a is the true value.

TABLE 3

Summary of composite error for three calibration conditions.

Tes	t Configuration	<u>N</u>	x	Minimum	Maximum
1)	Calibration device directly on cassette	96	3.4%	1.9%	6.4%
2)	Calibration device on x-ray table, cassette in table holder	93	3.4%	1.9%	4.5%
3)	Calibration device on fabricated specimen and cassette holder	81	2.9%	1.6%	3.6%

motion of the femur relative to the pelvis. No contrast media or special targeting techniques were used. The radiographic system was designed for obtaining 16 mm motion-picture film data at 1000 frames per second, but for normal joint motion, the system was operated at 64 frames per second with a 16 mm motion-picture cam-The x-ray source was a specially modified x-ray generator to era. produce smoothed d-c x-ray radiation for high-speed photogrammetric work. The subject was radiographed posterior-anterior onto a 25 cm by 25 cm x-ray-to-light conversion screen consisting of calcium tungstate. The x-ray image on the fluorescent screen is imaged onto the photocathode of a very high gain, 4-stage, magnetically focused image intensifier tube. The output phosphor image was photographed by the Milliken motion picture camera with lens setting of f.95, containing Eastman Double-X negative highspeed motion picture film, ASA 200. This was developed in Acufine at 20⁰C for 5 minutes. The system is capable of resolving 0.5 mm at 80% contrast. Radiation exposure at the skin surface of the order of 100-milliroentgens for a 1-second sequence of frames, for 2.5 mm of inherent equivalent aluminum filtration.

2.2.2 <u>CAMI Instrumentation</u>. The equipment used to measure landmarks on the osteological specimens consists of a tablet digitizer and desktop computer (Figure 4). This system was modified by attaching a diagraph to the digitizing cursor so that the diagraph's needle-point is centered vertically above the crosshairs of the cursor at all times. A potentiometer on the diagraph registers the height of the needle-point above the tablet and provides coordinate data on an axis perpendicular to the tablet plane. A pelvic specimen is suspended over the board in a position allowing access to all of the landmarks on the bone. The measurement space is restricted to approximately a 40cm x 35cm cube within which the pelvis must remain movable during the measurements. The diagraph is maneuvered within this space so that the needle is in contact with a landmark. A signal, activated on the cursor, registers in the computer the x-y-z coordinates of the landmark in relation to an origin on the tablet. The spatial location of each landmark is later transformed into an anatomical axis system defined by landmarks on the pelvis. Repeated calibration runs on test specimens reveal an average repeatability within $\stackrel{+}{-}$ 0.5 mm on known point-to-point linear distances.

In order to locate the approximate center of the femoral head relative to the pelvic specimen, a series of lucite hemispheres were constructed. These hemispheres are center-drilled and marked with two orthogonal axes passing through the center. To obtain the closest possible fit in the acetabulum of each specimen (male and female), the hemispheres were constructed in 2.5 mm increments ranging from 30 cm to 60 cm in diameter. During the measurement procedure, the appropriate hemisphere is fitted to each pelvic specimen and its' center is located in threedimensional space.



Figure 4. Photograph of measurement instrumentation at CAMI.

3. PHASE II RESEARCH RESULTS

3.1 Investigations involving fresh cadavers at HSRI.

There are three areas of investigation outlined for fresh cadaver subjects. They are:

1) What landmarks (surface and/or skeletal) are suitable for three-dimensional description of the body position and mobility and subsequently what is the geometrical relationship between the internal skeletal landmark and the corresponding external landmark?

2) Which landmarks should be used to define the secondary and tertiary three-dimensional Cartesian coordinate axes systems?

3) Where does the body move and how should this movement be modeled such that it is in a format that is compatible with predictive statistics?

The results of our investigation at HSRI will therefore be reported within the context of how these questions were addressed at HSRI and are intended to represent a methodology rather than experimental results.

3.1.1 <u>Surface-internal landmark correlation investigation</u>. The cadaver was placed in a supine position on the x-ray table and landmarks (Appendix D) were marked on the skin with lead crosses. The landmarks, right and left anterior superior iliac spine, symphysion, right and left pubic tubercles and the right greater trochanter of the femur, were taped in place and the first stereo-pair was then obtained. Next, without moving the body, the markers were removed; skeleton exposed at the approximate landmark location; and the lead marker was glued to the skeleton with a methyl-2 cyanoacrylate adhesive. The incision was closed and a second stereo-pair was obtained to determine the spatial relationship between corresponding internal and external landmarks. In addition to the above landmarks, two more markers were glued to

the greater trochanter. In the case of subject 06, a small nail was driven into the head of the femur and for subject 07 two small nails were driven into the head of the femur (Figure 5). These markers were placed on the femur to provide comparative paths of motion at a site closer to the traditional location of the hip joint center rotation.

After taking the anterior-posterior stereo-radiographs for investigating landmarks on the ventral side, the cadaver was then placed in a prone position and a similar procedure was followed to investigate landmarks on the dorsal side. The three landmarks were one each over the right and left posterior superior iliac spines (PSIS) and one on a line passing through the right and left PSIS landmarks overlying the middle of the spinal column. A posterior-anterior stereo-radiographic pair of x-rays were obtained of these three landmarks which also includes the landmarks in situ on the ventral side. Next, internal landmarks were exposed by dissection and lead markers were placed on the dorsal skeletal landmarks. These landmarks, the dorsal spine of the fifth lumbar vertebra, right and left posterior superior iliac spines, and the first dorsal spine of the sacral body. The incisions were closed and a stereo-pair was obtained thereby concluding this section of the investigation.

The three-dimensional Cartesian coordinates for each landmark are located relative to the secondary axis system defined by the skeletal landmarks--right and left anterior superior iliac spines and symphysion. The axis system is defined by a line passing through the right and left anterior superior iliac spines for the "y-axis"; the "z-axis" passes through Symphysion and is perpendicular to the "y-axis"; the "x-axis" is a normal to the "y-z plane" and it passes through the point of intersection of the y- and z-axes. The origin of the secondary axis system is



Figure 5. Photocopy of radiograph showing landmarks in the hip region of subject 07.

defined by the intersection of the three orthogonal axes. This right-handed axis system has its' +x direction from posterior to anterior, +y direction from right lateral to left lateral, and +z direction from inferior to superior.

Operationally, this skeletal axis system is not present in the first stereo-pair obtained of the ventral surface landmarks. Since the cadaver is not moved between stero-pairs of the external and internal landmarks on the ventral side, the external landmark locations can be transformed later into the skeletal axis system coordinates defined in the second stereo-pair obtained. Figure 6 illustrates the definition of the vector and direction angles. The data in Table 4 are presented in centimeters distance from the internal to the external landmark and direction degrees of the vector in the skeletal axis system described above. The mid-spine dorsal landmark is the only case in which there is only one external surface landmark located relative to two internal skeletal landmarks.

Upon completion of all measurements on each cadaver, the appropriate skeletal material with markers still glued rigidly in place on the boney feature was excised from the cadaver. These bones with markers in place will be compared to those used in the CAMI pelvic study to insure comparability of landmark definition.

3.1.2 Investigation of relative segment motion at the hip joint. The total leg of each cadaver was sequentially positioned to produce motion at the hip joint. Stereo-radiographs were obtained of the hip joint as the total leg was moved in increments of 10° to 30° angular displacement of the total leg. An effort was made to move the limb in the appropriate cardinal plane. Therefore, for the motion of abduction-adduction, the limb movement was restricted primarily to the frontal plane. Limb movement was restricted primarily to the transverse plane



.

Figure 6. Schematic diagram of internal-external landmark geometry within the pelvic axis system.

t

TABLE 4

.

.

•

.

-

.

Spatial geometry between internal and external landmarks

Subject 06		VECTOR		
Internal-to-External	Length(cm)	Direction	Angles	(degrees)
		αβγ	αβγ	αβγ
RT. ASIS	0.20	53.81	129.77	60.52
LT. ASIS	1.06	89.46	143.45	126.54
SYMPHYSION	1.13	59.14	91.52	30.91
RT. TUBEROSITY	1.23	52.94	142.94	89.53
LT. TUBEROSITY				
RT. TROCHANTERION	2.28	84.41	162.27	73.23
RT. PSIS	1.63	99.9	157.05	69.52
LT. PSIS	1.77	128.38	112.30	133.31
L5 to Midspine	3.69	138.38	112.30	133.31
S1 to Midspine	1.59	116.21	153.61	87.11
Subject 07				
RT. ASIS	0.94	28.91	70.67	69.37
LT. ASIS	1.45	19.75	86.43	70.6
SYMPHYSION	1.18	19.28	71.15	93.90
RT. TUBEROSITY	0.66	26.34	69.55	105.87
LT. TUBEROSITY	0.86	44.67	45.61	94.01
RT. TROCHANTERION	1.69	136.69	98.85	48.05
RT. PSIS	0.55	124.29	58.19	50.49
LT. PSIS	0.86	108.89	59.42	37.08
L5 to Midspine	2.99	127.56	77.03	129.49
S1 to Midspine	0.95	140.95	56.93	139.49

.
for internal-external rotation of the hip joint, and limb movement was restricted primarily to a para-sagittal plane for flexionextension of the hip joint. Thus, femur motion was not well controlled in all planes during a particular motion.

As outlined in the Interim Report, segment motion of the thigh relative to the pelvis should be measured by tracking a moving three-dimensional Cartesian coordinate frame of reference (tertiary axis system) based on three landmarks defined on the femur relative to a fixed, unmoving frame of reference in the pelvis (secondary axis system). The axis system for the thigh should be defined by three landmarks on the femur as far apart from each other as possible. However, since the distal end of the femur and the superior surface of the pelvis were not both visible in a 14" x 17" radiographic film format, three landmarks on the greater trochanter were chosen. As an indication of measurement error, for these landmarks to be used in constructing an axis system, the average area within the triangle defined by the three points in all stereo-pairs was computed for subjects 04, 06, and 07. The area values, 2.021, 0.656, and 1.400 cm² respectively, are small indicating that the magnitude of the quantities approaches the magnitude of the measurement error discussed in a preceding section. The residual of the difference between the average and each individual area value were regressed against the position of the thigh defined as the positive and negative radians either side of the initial starting position in the approximate anatomical position. The results of this analysis, presented in Table 5, indicate that measurement error of the motion in the sagittal and frontal planes appear to be generally random, but there appears to be a small systematic error in the measurement of these points moving in the transverse plane.

The coordinate data for each target on each cadaver sub-

TABLE 5

....

.

.

Statistical analysis of error in trochanter landmarks' location.

Primary Plane of motion	N	Regression	SE	"r"
Sagittal (Flexion)	13	y = .003x + .072	0.156	.013
Frontal (Abduction)	19	y = .008x + .043	0.167	.012
Transverse (Rotation)	19	y = .019x + .089	0.130	.449

ject is presented in Tables 6-8. Measurements were obtained on the left side for subject 04 and on the right side for subjects 06 and 07. These coordinate data are all located in the secondary axis system defined in the pelvis by the right and left anterior superior iliac spines and symphysion. As the project progressed from subject 04 to 07, other landmarks were added until in the last subject (07) seventeen landmarks were in place on the skeleton for each stereo-radiograph for the motion studies.

The three-dimensional Cartesian coordinates are extremely difficult to interpret in their digital form. Therefore, plots were generated by computer in order to visualize the projected path of motion of the femur relative to the secondary axis system for all subjects. The projected path of Trochanterion for flexion-extension in the sagittal (x-y) plane is plotted in Figure 7. The same point for abduction-adduction is plotted in the frontal plane projection (y-z plane) in Figure 8; and for internal-external rotation of motion, the point is seen projected in the Transverse plane (x-y plane) in Figure 9. A preliminary visual inspection of the data appears to suggest that a ball-and-socket model will explain some of the motion characteristics in these plots. Since the femur was not restricted to motion about a single axis, the projected paths in Figure 7-9 reflect the total motion in the hip for the six kinematical degrees of freedom.

Cineradiographic films of the hip joint during flexion and abduction of the thigh support this model as a reasonable first approximation of the hip joint. Figures 10a-10n provide a sample of selected still photographs made from the abduction sequence in which the femur appears to rotate about at least two axes passing through the hip joint. These cineradiographs suggest that the complete three dimensional kinematic description of the hip joint

TABLE 6

.

3-D anthropometry for subject 04 in x-ray stereo-photogrammetry study (values in cm relative to secondary axis system)

SUBJECT 04

ADDUCTION - ABDUCTION (of left leg)

		ADDUCTION			ABDUCTION	
		-15°	0°	10°	20°	30°
RT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 -10.67 0.00	0.00 -10.75 0.00	0.00 -10.60 0.00	0.00 -10.65 0.00	0.00 -10.65 0.00
LT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 9.91 0.00	0.00 9.98 0.00	0.00 9.76 0.00	0.00 10.09 0.00	0.00 9.99 0.00
SYMPHYSION	X Y Z	0.00 0.00 -8.08	0.00 0.00 -8.12	0.00 0.00 -8.02	0.00 0.00 -8.08	0.00 0.00 -8.09
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.26 -3.02 -8.79	0.29 -3.06 -8.83	0.36 -2.94 -8.74	-0.15 -3.00 -8.79	-0.13 -3.02 -8.82
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.45 1.93 -8.81	0.34 1.91 -8.88	0.11 1.96 -8.80	-0.10 1.99 -8.91	0.26 1.91 -8.89
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-8.83 12.94 -10.16	-10.10 12.90 -8.91	-9.95 11.88 -8.14	-11.43 13.06 -7.44	-11.09 12.22 -7.12
LATER AL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-7.38 14.52 -10.71	-8.96 14.79 -9.27	-8.75 13.78 -8.12	-10.76 15.15 -7.04	-10.20 14.19 -6.55
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	X Y Z	-7.78 13.42 -8.61	-9.19 13.32 -7.43	-8.98 11.97 -6.64	-10.16 12.95 -5.87	-10.04 12.07 -5.57

SUBJECT 04

.

.

FLEXION (of left leg)

		0°	20°	40°	60°	80°	100°	120°
RT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 -11.51 0.00	0.00 -11.73 0.00	0.00 -11.60 0.00	0.00 -11.72 0.00	0.00 -11.56 0.00	0.00 -11.09 0.00	0.00 -11.48 0.00
LT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 10.09 0.00	0.00 9.35 0.00	0.00 9.61 0.00	0.00 9.88 0.00	0.00 9.39 0.00	0.00 9.93 0.00	0.00 9.55 0.00
SYMPHYSION	X Y Z	0.00 0.00 -8.14	0.00 0.00 -8.17	0.00 0.00 -8.16	0.00 0.00 -8.21	0.00 0.00 -8.19	0.00 0.00 -8.11	0.00 0.00 -8.12
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.19 -3.00 -8.82	0.07 -3.53 -8.81	0.15 -3.11 -8.85	0.15 -3.20 -8.91	0.10 -3.29 -8.85	0.23 -2.78 -8.85	0.13 -3.26 -8.78
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.26 2.03 -8.92	0.15 1.66 -8.92	0.18 1.83 -8.89	0.19 1.83 -8.95	0.15 1.53 -8.89	0.26 1.96 -8.86	0.25 1.90 8.88
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-7.11 15.85 -9.79	-6.52 14.41 -10.59	-4.87 15.16 -11.21	-3.69 15.44 -11.34	-2.74 14.67 -11.00	-2.03 15.15 -10.86	-1.56 15.66 -10.21
LATERAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-8.62 13.95 -9.28	-8.10 13.04 -10.56	-6.54 13.28 -11.64	-5.05 14.10 -12.36	-3.56 13.31 -12.39	-2.39 13.27 -12.28	-1.45 14.09 -11.67
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	X Y Z	-7.48 14.34 -7.81	-7.47 12.84 -8.70	-6.43 14.10 -9.85	-5.61 14.30 -10.45	-4.83 13.46 -10.80	-4.06 13.50 -11.21	-3.38 14.01 -10.96

<u>TABLE 6 (con't</u>)

SUBJECT 04

ROTATION (of left leg)

		MED) ROT/	IAL ATION			LATERAL ROTATION	
		60°	30°	0°	30°	60°	90°
RT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 -10.69 0.00	0.00 -10.62 0.00	0.00 -10.72 0.00	0.00 -10.53 0.00	0.00 -10.79 0.00	0.00 -10.72 0.00
LT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 10.07 0.00	0.00 9.82 0.00	0.00 9.85 0.00	0.00 9.75 0.00	0.00 10.02 0.00	0.00 10.03 0.00
SYMPHYSION	X Y Z	0.00 0.00 -8.04	0.00 0.00 -8.01	0.00 0.00 -8.08	0.00 0.00 -7.94	0.00 0.00 -8.12	0.00 0.00 -8.10
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.23 -3.06 -8.76	0.11 -2.99 -8.74	0.35 -3.08 -8.80	0.11 -2.94 -8.66	0.10 -3.04 -8.86	-0.07 -2.99 -8.85
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.27 1.90 -8.84	0.51 1.88 -8.73	0.40 1.86 -8.82	0.19 1.88 -8.68	0.26 1.94 -8.88	-0.05 1.98 -8.85
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-10.53 15.76 -9.35	-7.77 13.96 -8.93	-10.39 11.64 -8.73	-10.63 10.83 -8.02	-11.19 10.91 -8.13	-11.70 10.18 -7.86
LATERAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-9.45 17.09 -9.84	-6.21 15.24 -9.37	-9.39 13.63 -9.10	-10.21 12.92 -8.34	-10.89 13.13 -8.34	-11.36 12.41 -7.98
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	X Y Z	-9.35 15.63 -7.81	-6.70 13.94 -7.47	-9.38 12.18 -7.29	-9.46 11.39 -6.63	-10.26 11.57 -6.67	-10.54 10.85 -6.38

.

.

-

.

-

~

TABLE 7

3-D anthropometry for subject O6 in x-ray stereo-photogrammetry study (values in cm relative to secondary axis system)

SUBJECT 06

ADDUCTION - ABDUCTION (of right leg)

	ADDUCTION					ABDUC	TION		
15°	10°	5°	0	5°	10°	15°	20°	25°	30°
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
-12.01	-12.24	-12.16	-12.33	-11.96	-11.89	-11.97	-11.93	-11.86	-11.86
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
12.57	12.56	12.58	12.53	12.72	12.63	12.65	12.63	12.65	12.66
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	00.00
-9.59	-9.64	-9.62	-9.59	9.68	9.61	-9.66	-9.67	-9.65	07-0-
-0.29	-0.23	-0.24	-0.04	-0.10	-0.43	-0.33	-0.31	-0.27	-0.15
-2.10	-2.15	-2.08	-2.10	-2.04	-2.08	-2.09	-2.12	-2.04	-2.08
-9.74	-9.78	-9.79	-9.79	-9.84	-9.75	-9.79	-9.80	-9.77	-9.84
-0.54	-0.45	-0.25	-0.24	-0.39	-0.52	-0.35	-0.39	-0.23	-0.16
2.59	2.62	2.65	2.65	2.68	2.61	2.60	-2.56	2.68	2.59
-9.64	-9.68	-9.72	-9.68	-9.72	-9.66	-9.73	-9.73	-9.71	-9.80
-13.12	-12.98	-13.31	-13.10	-13.22	-13.43	-13.17	-13.00	-13.30	-13.45
-3.09	-3.93	-3.74	-4.30	-2.81	-2.78	-2.87	-3.02	-2.68	-2.77
3.06	2.94	2.97	2.63	3.11	3.21	3.13	3.06	2.75	3.06
 -13.28	-13.38	-13.25	-13.14	-13.36	-13.24	-13.25	-12.86	-13.49	-13.32
3.76	2.98	3.24	2.71	4.12	4.12	3.99	3.89	4.18	4.18
3.18	3.11	3.03	2.73	3.24	3.27	3.22	3.15	2.88	3.15

SUBJECT 06

ADDUCTION - ABDUCTION (con't) (of right leg)

		AD	DUCTION					ABDUCTI	ION		
		15°	10°	5°	0°	5°	10°	15°	20°	25°	30°
L5 DORSAL SPINE	××N	-10.46 0.29 5.96	-10.76 -0.44 5.96	-10.81 -0.25 5.96	-11.06 -0.76 5.78	-10.68 0.57 6.12	-10.77 0.57 6.14	-10.56 0.48 6.08	-10.60 0.31 6.05	-11.18 0.61 5.81	-11.01 0.58 6.06
S1 DORSAL SPINE	××P	-12.37 0.26 3.37	-12.84 -0.59 3.37	-12.61 -0.30 3.30	-12.62 -0.89 3.04	-12.51 0.53 3.45	-12.61 0.55 3.53	-12.38 0.42 3.42	-12.18 0.31 3.37	-13.14 0.57 3.20	-12.74 0.61 3.39
LATERAL TROCHANTER	××N	-8.04 -13.34 -8.34	-8.57 -14.05 -8.00		-8.10 -14.46 -7.93	-8.31 -13.28 -7.06	-8.65 -13.08 -6.65	-7.93 -12.90 -6.17	-8.85 -12.89 -5.79	-8.11 -12.36 -5.85	-8.87 -12.29 -5.32
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	××N	-7.19 -12.78 -8.77	-7.93 -13.51 -8.46	-7.60 -13.29 -8.25	-7.15 -13.80 -8.42	-7.40 -12.80 -7.64	-7.71 -12.64 -7.26	-7.19 -12.64 -6.81	-8.20 -12.64 -6.40	-7.89 -12.29 -6.36	-7.64 -12.06 -5.99
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	××N	-7.54 -12.80 -7.36	-8.27 -13.43 -7.04		-7.84 -13.76 -7.00	-8.24 -12.55 -6.22	-8.32 -12.33 -5.88	-7.53 -12.04 -5.56	-8.62 -12.03 -5.17	-8.59 -11.58 -5.18	-8.67 -11.39 -4.84
NAIL HEAD	××v	-6.46 -9.88 -6.72	-7.17 -10.49 -6.56	-7.37 -10.35 -6.47	-6.73 -10.69 -6.68	-6.88 -9.67 -6.25	-7.29 -9.58 -6.04	-6.73 -9.65 -6.02	-7.67 -9.73 -5.81	-6.84 -9.38 -6.11	-7.37 -9.53 -5.97
NAIL POINT	××N	-6.45 -9.37 -7.80	-6.86 -9.90 -7.70	-6.84 -9.74 -7.65	-6.75 -10.14 -7.77	-7.25 -9.30 -7.32	-7.01 -9.12 -7.16	-6.57 -9.08 -7.13	-7.30 -9.12 -6.92	-6.58 -8.68 -7.09	-7.36 -8.69 -6.79

-

.

.

SUBJECT 06										
ROTATION (of right leg)										
		MEDI ROTAI	IAL TION				LATE ROTA	2AL FION		
		30°	15°	0°	15°	30°	45°	60°	75°	°06
RT ASIS	×≻N	0.00 -11.88 0.00	0.00 -11.86 0.00	0.00 -11.87 0.00	0.00 -11.98 0.00	0.00 -11.78 0.00	0.00 -12.31 0.00	0.00 -11.83 0.00	0.00 -11.85 0.00	0.00 0.11.90 0.00
LT ASIS	×≻N	0.00 12.70 0.00	0.00 12.61 0.00	0.00 12.68 0.00	0.00 12.65 0.00	0.00 12.67 0.00	0.00 12.46 0.00	0.00 12.67 0.00	0.00 12.70 0.00	0.00 -12.58 0.00
NOISYMPHYSION	×≻ч	0.00 0.00 -9.67	0.00 0.00 -9.59	0.00 0.00 9.61	0.00 0.00 9.67	0.00 0.00 -9.62	0.00 0.00 9.66	0.00 0.00 -9.59	0.00 0.00 -9.62	0.00 0.00 -9.59
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	×≻N	-0.65 -2.11 -9.76	-0.39 -2.13 -9.72	-0.23 -2.06 -9.75	-0.13 -2.11 -9.83	-0.67 -1.77 -9.69	-0.40 -1.87 -9.80	-0.33 -2.10 -9.72	-0.22 -2.08 -9.76	-0.35 -2.11 -9.73
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	×≻N	-0.58 2.60 -9.71	-0.36 2.61 -9.66	-0.19 2.61 -9.67	-0.46 2.60 -9.70	-0.61 2.58 -9.63	-0.44 2.50 -9.71	-0.43 2.60 -9.67	-0.35 2.60 -9.70	-0.35 2.56 -9.64
RT PSIS	××N	-13.31 -2.82 3.13	-13.12 -2.87 3.03	-13.28 -2.79 2.80	-12.90 -2.95 3.27	-13.80 -2.53 3.22	-13.36 -4.06 3.06	-13.21 -2.55 2.99	-13.58 -2.70 2.83	-13.20 -3.04 3.03
LT PSIS	××v	-13.37 4.09 3.23	-13.28 4.05 3.11	-13.63 4.07 2.94	-12.98 3.97 3.34	-13.79 4.34 3.31	-13.52 2.86 3.20	-13.44 4.36 3.14	-13.55 4.24 2.92	-13.08 3.87 3.08
L5 DORSAL SPINE	×≻ч	-10.98 0.54 6.13	-10.76 0.51 6.01	-11.02 0.57 5.86	-10.41 0.41 6.16	-11.07 0.80 6.12	-11.04 -0.57 6.10	-11.05 0.76 6.05	-11.18 0.65 5.88	-10.76 0.36 6.01

SUBJECT 06

ROTATION (con't) (of right leg)

-12.65 0.28 3.41 -10.07 -12.12 -6.57 -8.91 -11.96 -7.19 -9.33 -11.45 -5.86 -7.38 -9.44 -6.27 -7.30 -8.69 -7.23 06 -9.38 -11.46 -6.08 -12.88 0.66 3.18 -10.13 -12.11 -6.78 -9.06 -11.94 -7.38 -7.92 -9.36 -6.32 -7.78 -8.65 -7.30 75° -9.41 -11.48 -5.94 -12.65 0.78 3.35 -8.97 -11.91 -7.23 -9.92 -12.12 -6.65 -7.76 -9.37 -6.20 -7.41 -8.67 -7.24 °09 LATERAL ROTATION -8.50 -13.11 -7.44 -8.93 -12.71 -6.08 -10.26 -9.88 -6.67 -12.44 -0.27 3.37 -7.43 -10.36 -6.29 -7.63 -9.34 -7.30 45° -12.97 0.78 3.54 -9.55 -12.38 -6.72 -9.12 -11.74 -5.96 -8.70 -12.11 -7.32 -7.60 -9.31 -6.14 -7.35 -8.68 -7.21 30° -12.39 0.37 3.60 -7.86 -12.41 -7.50 -6.57 -9.63 -6.25 -8.02 -8.78 -6.13 -6.49 -9.14 -7.36 15° -12.72 0.51 3.16 -6.89 -12.98 -8.00 -6.69 -9.77 -6.44 -6.75 -9.49 -7.58 ° -6.21 -13.10 -8.18 -6.99 -13.20 -6.73 -7.14 -13.90 -7.65 -12.55 0.44 3.37 -7.24 -9.92 -6.31 -6.97 -9.76 -7.52 15° MEDIAL ROTATION -12.75 0.52 3.47 -5.56 -13.85 -8.00 -5.17 -13.04 -8.41 -5.77 -13.24 -7.02 -6.52 -9.85 -6.57 -6.14 -9.75 -7.71 30° × ≻ N XYN ××N \sim SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION) LATERAL TROCHANTER MEDIAL TROCHANTER NAIL POINT S1 DORSAL SPINE NAIL HEAD

TABLE 8

•

.

.

.

.

SUBJECT 07

• •

3-D anthropometry for subject 07 in x-ray stereo-photogrammetry study (values in cm relative to secondary axis system)

ABDUCTION (of right leg							
		0°	5°	10°	15°	20°	35°
RT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 -12.79 0.00	0.00 -12.86 0.00	0.00 -12.82 0.00	0.00 -13.01 0.00	0.00 -12.69 0.00	0.00 -13.04 0.00
LT ASIS	X Y Z	0.00 13.29 0.00	0.00 13.26 0.00	0.00 13.22 0.00	0.00 13.12 0.00	0.00 13.18 0.00	0.00 13.15 0.00
SYMPHYSION	X Y Z	0.00 0.00 -5.32	0.00 0.00 -5.31	0.00 0.00 -5.29	0.00 0.00 -5.31	0.00 0.00 -5.30	0.00 0.00 -5.34
SUPERIOR SYMPHYSION	X Y Z	-0.86 0.14 -4.49	-1.06 0.11 -4.47	-1.03 0.11 -4.45	-0.94 0.03 -4.49	-0.92 0.14 -4.49	-1.21 0.03 -4.45
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.4 -2.24 -6.15	0.21 -2.27 -6.12	0.18 -2.28 -6.09	0.09 -2.29 -6.12	0.11 -2.27 -6.08	0.00 -2.29 -6.14
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	X Y Z	0.25 2.81 -5.98	0.13 2.79 -5.95	0.14 2.84 -5.94	0.12 2.79 -5.95	-0.02 2.76 -5.92	-0.14 2.79 -5.95
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-9.00 -12.66 -4.98	-9.22 -12.87 -4.54	-8.83 -12.76 -4.08	-9.08 -13.62 -3.67	-8.70 -12.72 -3.32	-10.55 -12.51 -3.51
LATERAL TROCHANTER	X Y Z	-10.43 -12.96 -4.37	-10.92 -13.14 -3.84	-10.10 -12.94 -3.42	-10.19 -13.87 -3.01	-9.97 -12.93 -2.65	-11.94 -12.38 -3.25

.

.

.

SUBJECT 07

ABDUCTION (con't) (of right leg)

		0°	5°	10°	15°	20°	35°
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	X Y Z	-9.59 -11.67 -2.85	-10.09 -11.67 -2.49	-9.52 -11.32 -2.22	-9.54 -12.04 -1.95	-9.81 -11.10 -1.70	-11.09 -10.37 -2.53
SUP. NAIL HEAD	X Y Z	-6.90 -10.80 -5.07	-7.21 -11.02 -4.80	-6.79 -10.81 -4.57	-6.65 -11.40 -4.37	-6.47 -10.75 -4.16	-7.76 -11.00 -3.85
SUP. NAIL POINT	X Y Z	-6.57 -9.64 -5.38	-6.98 -9.87 -5.25	-6.41 -9.73 -5.16	-6.48 -10.37 -5.02	-6.54 -9.82 -4.86	-7.09 -10.18 -4.65
INF. NAIL HEAD	X Y Z	-6.01 -9.80 -6.12	-6.41 -10.15 -5.94	-5.89 -10.06 -5.82	-6.05 -10.71 -5.65	-5.95 -10.20 -5.44	-6.45 -10.76 -5.01
INF. NAIL POINT	X Y Z	-6.84 -9.01 -5.46	-7.00 -9.29 -5.44	-7.06 -9.19 05.36	-7.00 -9.83 -5.28	-6.85 -9.26 -5.19	-6.93 -9.69 -5.19
RT PSIS	X Y Z	-14.23 -2.99 5.19	-14.38 -3.19 5.02	-14.35 -2.96 4.84	-14.40 -3.97 4.92	-14.88 -2.80 4.90	-14.43 -3.82 5.17
LT PSIS	X Y Z	-14.54 5.33 4.96	-14.59 5.14 4.73	-14.89 5.42 4.64	-14.76 4.38 4.70	-14.83 5.50 4.61	-14.45 4.50 4.87
L5 DORSAL SPINE	X Y Z	-12.49 0.65 7.72	-12.80 0.46 7.58	-13.02 0.71 7.47	-12.71 -0.24 7.48	-12.69 0.81 7.39	-12.56 -0.14 7.67
S1 DORSAL SPINE	X Y Z	-13.72 0.86 5.81	-14.05 0.65 5.64	-14.06 0.91 5.51	-14.14 -0.12 5.58	-13.88 1.00 5.45	-13.97 0.01 5.82

x + 2 - 3

. .

38

, ,

SUBJECT 07								
FLEXION (of right leg)								
		0°	10°	20°	30°	45°	60°	70°
RT ASIS	××N	0.00 -13.06 0.00	0.00 -12.86 0.00	0.00 -13.03 0.00	0.00 -13.00 0.00	0.00 -12.79 0.00	0.00 -13.08 0.00	0.00 -13.00 0.00
LT ASIS	××N	0.00 13.15 0.00	0.00 13.20 0.00	0.00 13.18 0.00	0.00 13.17 0.00	0.00 13.26 0.00	0.00 13.06 0.00	0.00 13.25 0.00
SYMPHYSION	×≻ч	0.00 0.00 -5.33	0.00 0.00 -5.36	0.00 0.00 -5.30	0.00 0.00 -5.32	0.00 0.00 -5.31	0.00 0.00 -5.34	0.00 0.00 -5.33
SUPERIOR SYMPHYSION	×פ	-0.94 0.06 -4.51	-1.01 0.10 -4.47	-0.92 0.05 -4.48	-1.01 0.07 -4.48	-1.13 0.14 -4.44	-1.04 0.04 -4.47	-1.00 0.08 -4.49
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	×פ	0.35 -2.29 -6.16	-0.03 -2.25 -6.13	0.26 -2.26 -6.12	0.36 -2.28 -6.14	0.45 -2.27 -6.12	0.17 -2.27 -6.14	0.31 -2.26 -6.17
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	××N	0.36 2.79 -6.00	-0.04 2.79 -6.00	0.31 2.79 -5.98	0.23 2.77 -5.98	0.11 2.78 -5.95	-0.27 2.84 -5.92	0.14 2.86 -5.99
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	××N	-8.61 -13.41 -5.31	-8.34 -13.37 -4.86	-6.62 -14.37 -5.46	-6.05 -14.23 -5.30	-5.84 -13.84 -4.94	-6.20 -14.29 -6.11	-6.18 -14.04 -6.30
LATERAL TROCHANTER	×≻N	-10.10 -13.82 -4.70	-9.40 -13.84 -4.44	-7.38 -15.18 -5.27	-6.92 -15.11 -5.23	-6.55 -14.66 -5.11	-7.26 -15.08 -6.56	-6.80 -14.78 -6.95
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	×≻ч	-9.26 -12.46 -3.16	-9.19 -12.36 -2.92	-8.37 -13.76 -3.72	-7.62 -13.65 -3.88	-8.02 -13.18 -4.05	-8.72 -13.70 -5.49	-8.50 -13.44 -6.10

.

SUBJECT 07

FLEXION (con't) (of right leg)

		0°	10°	20°	30°	45°	60°	70°
SUP. NAIL HEAD	X Y Z	-6.56 -11.38 -5.34	-6.35 -11.12 -4.81	-5.15 -11.43 -5.09	-5.05 -11.31 -4.84	-4.95 -10.86 -4.34	-5.28 -11.47 -4.87	-5.44 -11.26 -4.89
SUP. NAIL POINT	X Y Z	-6.21 -10.20 -5.65	-6.60 -9.96 -5.13	-5.60 -10.28 -5.48	-5.25 -10.17 -5.31	-4.92 -9.80 -4.94	-5.28 -10.28 -5.24	-5.39 -10.09 -5.20
INF. NAIL HEAD	X Y Z	-5.60 -10.30 -6.39	-6.05 -10.05 -5.77	-4.73 -10.19 -6.01	-4.32 -10.05 -5.70	-4.39 -9.72 -5.03	-4.45 -10.22 -5.18	-4.37 -9.95 -5.06
INF. NAIL POINT	X Y Z	-6.65 -9.58 -5.73	-6.85 -9.36 -5.32	-5.97 -9.85 -5.77	-5.63 -9.73 -5.63	-5.52 -9.42 -5.32	-5.65 -9.83 -5.62	-5.25 -9.55 -5.65
RT PSIS	X Y Z	-14.36 -4.14 4.84	-14.01 -3.30 5.58	-14.77 -4.09 4.81	-14.17 -3.85 4.94	-13.75 -3.05 5.10	-14.77 -4.23 5.12	-14.29 -3.64 4.77
LT PSIS	X Y Z	-14.30 4.14 4.46	-14.32 5.00 5.33	-14.72 4.29 4.47	-14.53 4.51 4.70	-14.32 5.32 4.91	-14.57 4.12 4.76	-14.90 4.76 4.61
L5 DORSAL SPINE	X Y Z	-12.27 -0.40 7.27	-12.33 0.34 8.08	-12.74 -0.31 7.32	-12.59 -0.12 7.50	-12.43 0.59 7.73	-12.6 -0.47 7.57	-12.75 0.06 7.39
S1 DORSAL SPINE	X Y Z	-13.64 -0.30 5.39	-13.51 0.53 6.18	-14.12 -0.18 5.39	-13.87 0.05 5.59	-13.42 0.83 5.78	-13.88 -0.34 5.66	-14.14 0.23 5.51

, , , , ,

.

. .

· · ·

SUBJECT 07									
ROTATION (of right leg)				LAT	FERAL ROTATI	NO			
		0°	5°	10°	15°	20°	30°	35°	45°
rt asis	×≻N	0.00 -12.89 0.00	0.00 -13.12 0.00	0.00 -13.03 0.00	0.00 -13.01 0.00	0.00 -12.92 0.00	0.00 -13.12 0.00	0.00 -12.89 0.00	0.00 -12.85 0.00
LT ASIS	××v	0.00 13.23 0.00	0.00 13.13 0.00	0.00 13.16 0.00	0.00 13.19 0.00	0.00 13.22 0.00	0.00 13.15 0.00	0.00 13.12 0.00	0.00 13.22 0.00
NOISYMPHYSION	××v	0.00 0.00 -5.31	0.00 0.00 -5.32	0.00 0.00 -5.32	0.00 0.00 -5.32	0.00 0.00 -5.36	0.00 0.00 -5.33	0.00 0.00 -5.30	0.00 0.00 -5.27
SUPERIOR SYMPHYSION	××v	-1.17 0.08 -4.47	-1.06 0.02 -4.48	-1.03 0.08 -4.48	-1.04 0.12 -4.48	-0.99 0.07 -4.50	-1.04 0.04 -4.49	-0.90 0.06 -4.48	-1.04 0.10 -4.44
RT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	××v	0.02 -2.28 -6.12	0.26 -2.28 -6.16	0.31 -2.24 -6.15	0.13 -2.24 -6.14	0.22 -2.30 -6.17	0.28 -2.25 -6.16	0.21 -2.26 -6.11	0.21 -2.28 -6.10
LT PUBIC TUBEROSITY	××v	-0.01 2.80 -5.96	0.08 2.80 -5.97	0.19 2.86 -5.98	-0.19 2.86 -5.95	0.12 2.80 -6.01	0.18 2.84 -5.98	0.18 2.77 -5.95	0.10 2.78 -5.93
MEDIAL TROCHANTER	×≻ч	-5.20 -13.96 -5.84	-6.86 -14.61 -5.59	-7.54 -14.23 -5.32	-8.38 -13.87 -5.13	-9.00 -13.34 -4.57	-9.57 -13.97 -4.86	-8.78 -13.30 -4.91	-9.50 -12.95 -4.72
LATERAL TROCHANTER	××P	-5.81 -14.99 -5.42	-7.65 -15.55 -5.10	-8.53 -14.94 -4.77	-9.41 -14.46 -4.57	-9.79 -13.71 -4.01	-10.35 -14.38 -4.33	-10.05 -13.70 -4.33	-10.44 -13.23 -4.17
SUPERIOR TROCHANTER (TROCHANTERION)	×≻N	-6.03 -13.72 -3.68	-7.52 -14.13 -3.42	-8.17 -13.50 -3.17	-9.17 -13.02 -2.98	-9.38 -12.28 -2.52	-9.90 -12.94 -2.76	-9.34 -12.27 -2.81	-9.62 -11.81 -2.71

41

TABLE 8 (con't)

SUBJECT 07

7

ROTATION (con't) (of right leg)				LAI	LERAL ROTAT	ION			
		0°	5°	10°	15°	20°	30°	35°	45°
SUP. NAIL HEAD	××v	-4.69 -10.87 -5.57	-5.44 -11.50 -5.47	-6.02 -11.44 -5.29	-6.44 -11.34 -5.21	-6.50 -11.10 -4.90	-6.84 -11.61 -5.11	-6.38 -11.19 -5.12	-6.75 -10.94 -5.00
SUP. NAIL POINT	××P	-5.33 -9.85 -5.74	-5.87 -10.35 -5.69	-6.17 -10.21 -5.57	-6.91 -10.18 -5.47	-6.76 -9.98 -5.21	-6.98 -10.46 -5.42	-6.53 -10.06 -5.44	-6.88 -9.81 -5.31
INF. NAIL HEAD	×≻N	-4.90 -9.58 -6.45	-5.31 -10.15 -6.42	-5.71 -10.15 -6.31	-6.30 -10.23 -6.21	-5.88 -10.07 -6.01	-6.47 -10.59 -6.14	-5.97 -10.20 -6.14	-6.45 -10.01 -6.01
INF. NAIL POINT	××N	-6.03 -9.49 -5.77	-6.34 -9.91 -5.77	-6.79 -9.72 -5.64	-7.14 -9.62 -5.60	-6.92 -9.37 -5.37	-7.40 -9.88 -5.53	-6.71 -9.43 -5.57	-6.86 -9.19 -5.46
RT PSIS	××v	-14.76 -3.41 5.00	-14.74 -4.44 5.00	-14.49 -3.96 4.95	-14.76 -3.77 4.99	-14.39 -3.46 5.38	-14.60 -4.47 5.01	-14.39 -3.79 4.87	-14.41 -3.22 5.00
LT PSIS	×פ	-14.71 4.92 4.69	-14.95 3.98 4.73	-14.78 4.39 4.71	-14.91 4.60 4.67	-14.55 4.91 5.10	-14.80 3.96 4.73	-14.70 4.52 4.64	-14.94 5.13 4.82
L5 DORSAL SPINE	××v	-12.70 0.26 7.50	-13.19 -0.63 7.62	-12.99 -0.24 7.56	-13.09 -0.06 7.56	-12.43 0.25 7.85	-12.85 -0.63 7.58	-12.74 -0.08 7.42	-12.94 0.44 7.59
ST DORSAL SPINE	×≻N	-14.15 0.44 5.61	-14.15 -0.48 5.60	-14.07 -0.10 5.60	-14.16 0.13 5.58	-13.62 0.41 5.92	-14.07 -0.52 5.64	-13.80 0.07 5.47	-14.19 0.63 5.70

.





Figure 9. Path of Trochanterion relative to pelvic axis system during hip rotation in the transverse plane for subjects 04, 06 and 07.



Figure 10a-n. Sequential photographs of every fifth frame from a cineradiographic film of hip abduction for subject 07.





ع

δ





Figure 10 (continued)



Figure 10 (continued)

is needed. The translatory motion of the femur may be large enough so that it must be accounted for in measurements to provide a satisfactory basis for predictive modeling of hip joint motion. This will be a particularly important parameter for simulations of high acceleration environments where segment "stops" are more a result of environmental geometry than biological function.



m

n

Figure 10 (continued)

3.2 Investigations involving skeletal material at CAMI.

3.2.1 Skeletal variation in anatomical landmark location. The data obtained from osteological measurements at CAMI are primarily related to questions concerning "stability" of landmarks and the use of anatomical landmarks for axis system definition. Schematic drawings of the landmarks on the sacrum (Figures 11-14) and innominate (Figures 15-21) bones illustrate the total spectrum of landmarks whose three-dimensional coordinate location is measured. Only a small number of these landmarks will be utilized by Systems Anthropometry since many of them do not meet the requirements of body surface palpability and possibly do not represent functional biological features. However, all of these landmarks are needed to provide a geometric description of the shape of the pelvis for manikin design while the limited number reported upon in this section will probably be sufficient to describe the position and size of the pelvis for computer simulations.

The pelvic landmarks which define the axis system for this investigation are, as in the HSRI cadaver data, the right and left anterior superior iliac spines (ASIS) and symphysion. The data presented in Table 9 and plotted in Figures 22 and 23 have been located relative to a coordinate system based on these three landmarks. These landmarks used to define the secondary axis system are palpable on the surface of the body, but the degree to which they can be accurately located remains as an unanswered question. Symphysion is not a skeletal point since it lies on the superior edge of the pubic symphysis (a cartilagenous plate). Thus, another landmark might be identified which is a palpable skeletal feature, maintains geometric stability, and can be accurately defined within the context of biological function and population variability.



01	Promontorion								
02	S1 Center								
03-06	Segment Union Points								
09	Caudion, Anterior								
10	1st Sacral Body, Posterior								
11	Sacral Canal, Supero-anterior Floor								
12	Sacral Canal, Anterior Roof								
13	Sacral Spine, Sl								
14	Sacral Spine, S2								
15	Sacral Spine, S3								
16	Sacral Canal, Posterior Roof								
17	Sacral Canal, Infero-anterior Floor-								
18	Caudion, Posterior								
19	Sacral Canal, Wall								

Figure 11 Projected schematic of sacrum showing midline landmarks.



10	ist Sacral Body, Posterior
12	Sacral Canal, Anterior Roof
13	Sacral Spine, Sl
14	Sacral Spine, S2
15	Sacral Spine, S3
16	Sacral Canal, Posterior Roof
18	Caudion, Posterior
20	Sacral Canal, Wall
21	Posterior Alar-Auricular Point
22	Lateral Alar-Auricular Point
23	Anterior Alar-Auricular Point
25	Inferior Sacro-Iliac Junction
26	Inferior Sacral Angle
27	Caudion, Lateral
28-31	Superior Auricular Facet
32	Posterior Sacral Tubercle

Figure 12 Posterior view of sacrum showing midline and lateral landmarks.



01	Promontorion
02	Sl Center
03-07	Segment Union Points
09	Caudion, Anterior
10	lst Sacral Body, Posterior
18	Caudion, Posterior
19	lst Sacral Body, Lateral
21	Posterior Alar-Auricular Point
22	Lateral Alar-Auricular Point
23	Anterior Alar-Auricular Point
24	Mid-Alar-Auricular Point
25	Inferior Sacro-Iliac Junction
26	Inferior Sacral Angle
27	Caudion, Lateral

Figure 13 Anterior view of sacrum showing midline and lateral landmarks.



3	Sacro-Iliac Midpoint
4	Superior Pole

- 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 Inferior Pole
 - Superior Lobe, Superior Margin Midpoint Superior Lobe, Inferior Margin Midpoint Inferior Lobe, Anterior Margin

 - Inferior Lobe, Posterior Margin
- Figure 14 Schematic view of sacro-iliac joint surface showing landmarks.



Iliospinale, Antero-superior
Iliospinale, Crest
Iliocristale, Antero-lateral
Anterior Segment Midpoint, Lateral
Anterior Segment Midpoint, Medial
Iliocristale, Summum
Posterior Segment Point, Anterior Lateral (1st)
Posterior Segment POint, Anterior Medial (1st)
Iliocristale, Postero-medial
Posterior Segment Point, Intermediate Lateral (2nd)
Posterior Segment Point, Intermediate Medial (2nd)
Posterior Segment Point, Posterior Lateral (3rd)
Posterior Segment Point, Posterior Medial (3rd)
Iliocristale, Posterior
Iliospinale, Postero-superior

Figure 15 Lateral view of iliac crest showing landmarks.



Anterior Iliac Notch Point
Iliospinale, Antero-Inferior
Anterior Iliac Base Point
Posterior Iliac Notch Point
Iliospinale, Postero-inferior
Bouisson Tubercle
Superior Sciatic Notch Point
Apex of Sciatic Notch
Anterior Sciatic Notch Point

Figure 16 Lateral view of innominate showing anterior and posterior iliac border landmarks.



29 Anterior Auricular Point
30 Posterior Inlet Point
31 Intermediate Inlet Point
32 Anterior Inlet Point

Figure 17 Medial view of innominate showing pelvic inlet landmarks.



33	Pubic Eminence Point
34	Anterior Pubic Ramus Point
35	Superior Pubic Ramus Point
36	Inferior Pubic Ramus Point
37	Pubotubercle
38	Superior Symphyseal Pole
39	Inferior Symphyseal Pole
40	Anterior Symphyseal Point
61	Posterior Symphyseal Point

Figure 18 Medial view of pubis showing landmarks.



53	Acetabulum, Anterior
54	H-Point (Not shown)
55	Acetabular Center Point
56	Acetabulum, Superior
57	Acetabulum, Posterior
58	Acetabulum, Inferior

Figure 19 Lateral view of acetabulum showing landmarks.



Superior	Ischial Inner Surface Point
Intermedi	ate Ischial Inner Surface Point
Inferior	Ischial Inner Surface Point
Superior	Vertical Iliac Fossa Contour Point
Intermedi	ate Vertical Iliac Fossa Contour Point
Inferior	Vertial Iliac Fossa Contour Point
Lateral A	Auricular Point
Posterio	r 'ransverse Iliac Fo ssa Contour Point
Intermedi	ate Transvers Iliac Fossa Contour Point
Anterior	Transverse Iliac Fossa Contour Point





.

Figure ²¹ Lateral view of Innominate showing surface contour landmarks.

TABLE 9

Summary statistics of subset of Hamann - Todd male 3-D pelvic data

(measurements in cm.)

VARIABLE		<u>N</u>	MINIMUM	MAXIMUM	MEAN	STD. DEV.
RT ASIS	X Y Z	25 26 24	0. -13.22 0.	0. -9.47 0.	0. -11.46 0.	.82
LT ASIS	X Y Z	26 26 26	0. 9.31 0.	0. 13.74 0.	0. 11.57 0.	.98
RT H-POINT	X	26	-5.79	-3.67	-4.74	.48
	Y	26	-9.27	-7.15	-8.35	.48
	Z	26	-8.04	-3.25	-6.43	1.10
LT H-POINT	X	26	-5.62	-3.61	-4.77	.46
	Y	26	7.00	9.48	8.57	.54
	Z	26	-7.73	-2.81	-6.35	1.11
RT ILIOCRISTALE, SUMMUM	X Y Z	26 26 26	-24.03 -14.28 4.72	-1.76 -10.78 19.98	-5.35 -12.37 6.56	3.91 .81 2.81
LT ILIOCRISTALE, SUMMUM	X Y Z	26 26 26	-6.44 9.88 5.15	-1.82 13.91 7.74	-4.59 12.47 6.34	.99 .82 .67
RT ISCHI A LE	X	26	-11.20	-8.44	-9.66	.76
	Y	26	-7.29	-4.98	-6.01	.70
	Z	26	-13.96	-7.24	-11.62	1.56
LT ISCHIALE	X	26	-11.14	-8.45	-9.66	.60
	Y	26	4.95	7.40	6.13	.63
	Z	26	-13.93	-7.02	-11.52	1.55
LT PSIS	X	26	-15.02	-9.60	-13.01	1.17
	Y	26	2.29	4.58	3.49	.52
	Z	26	-1.36	6.19	1.39	1.47
PROMONTORION	X	26	-6.74	-3.89	-5.55	.70
	Y	26	99	.73	52	.48
	Z	26	-1.27	4.96	1.45	1.12
SYPHYSION	X Y Z	26 23 26	0. 0. -9.79	0. 0. -5.22	0. 0. -7.64	1.12



.





4. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Basic research in Systems Anthropometry has achieved progress in several areas and we can make several recommendations relative to instrumentation and research problems. This last section will summarize what Systems Anthropometry has accomplished and provide suggestions for future research.

4.1 Summary of Phase II research.

Research in Systems Anthropometry has been directed towards developing an experimental philosophy, data analysis methodology, and collecting data. This effort has not, therefore, included the development of new equipment or techniques when it was possible to utilize existing technical capabilities. As a result, our most significant results have been obtained in laying the philosophical foundation for Systems Anthropometry. The following list briefly describes each of the major components in this experimental philosophy.

1) Biological variability must be considered as a set of probabilistic phenomena in deterministic models. That is, the length of an anatomical "link" is defined by two probabilistic sets of parameters: a) the probable size configuration of a skeleton in an individual in the population, and b) the probable location of adjacent joint centers of mobility. Thus, the possible lengths of a bone separating adjacent anatomical joints are distributed in the population. The same phenomenon of biological variability is also true for joint centers of mobility. Thus, the concept of a fixed-length "link" must be modified to accept additional probabilistic parameters.

2) Body position and mobility must be considered simultaneously in three-dimensional space since extrinsic and intrinsic geometries affect body mobility. That is, the position of the body relative to an environmental workspace as well as the relative three-dimensional location of each body segment will

determine the extent of body mobility within the total globographic range. Thus, the traditionally independent concepts of body position and body mobility must be considered together.

3) The data collection and data analysis methodologies must incorporate the use of anatomical frames of reference defined by functionally significant landmarks. The use of anatomically-based Cartesian coordinate axes systems provides comparability between subjects and provides a possible means by which joint mobility becomes predictable. Other spatial characteristics of a segment, such as its inertial properties must be referenced to the anatomical frames of reference.

4) Functional and stable landmarks must be defined in skeletal geometry. Skeletal features provide the best anatomical landmarks for kinematical research problems since soft tissue features are mobile relative to each other. Thus, the skeleton provides the only rigid, relatively fixed landmarks suitable for axis system definition and motion tracking to define body position and mobility.

The following list describes briefly each of the major components of methodology.

1) An anatomically-based Cartesian coordinate axis system can be defined relative to three non-colinear skeletal landmarks on a rigid bone in the skeleton. The three landmarks define a plane from which a normal is constructed which serves to define two additional planes.

2) To describe body position and mobility, three types of axes systems are necessary. The first is an inertial frame of reference that does not move and is independent of the human body. The second axis system is a whole-body frame of reference which corresponds approximately to the traditional anatomical reference system and is located in the pelvis. When the location of this axis system is specified, the general orientation of the body

relative to the inertial frame of reference is described. The third type of axis system is a body segment frame of reference which is unique to a specific segment. These axes systems define the location and orientation of the mass distribution properties of each segment as well as the kinematic parameters. Thus, the body is viewed as a system of segments each of which move relative to each other.

3) Body mobility is defined kinematically by a threedimensional motion analysis which describes one axis system moving relative to another axis system. The three-dimensional analysis requires six parameters in order to solve the equations describing the kinematically complete six degrees of freedom. The analytical procedures have been demonstrated in Kinzel, Hall, and Hillbery (1972). The results from this analysis will provide mathematically complete descriptions of segment mobility but the applicability of these results to statistical analysis is unknown.

4) Skeletal landmarks measured in three-dimensional Cartesian coordinates may be described in a sample through the use of probability ellipsoids. Thus, the statistical summarization of the data on 280 individuals in Section 4.5 of the Interim Report can also be utilized in the three-dimensional description of body position. It is anticipated that similar techniques will be used on the resultant body mobility data.

5) Targets on the body surface and on skeletal features can be measured accurately with the stereo-radiographic technique. The relationship between internal and external landmarks may be measured as well as the motion of an incrementally-moved axis system defined by three landmarks. The description of axis system motion through the use of incremental stereo-radiographs relies upon relatively low data density along the path of motion. Other techniques might resolve the incremental displacement into finer units of motion.

A small amount of data have been collected in Phase II. The following list briefly describes the results.

1) The spatial relationship between the internal and external landmarks in the lumbar/pelvic/femur region of the body has been investigated in two fresh cadavers. The results are geometrically defined relative to the secondary axis system in the pelvis. Additional research is needed to expand the sample size for statistical analysis of this relationship.

2) The motion of the femur relative to a fixed pelvic axis system was investigated in three fresh cadavers. The threedimensional Cartesian coordinates for each measured landmark were examined using two-dimensional graphical techniques. The data are currently being studied using three-dimensional analytical techniques.

3) Densitometric measurements of skeletal muscle have been made on specimens from six fresh cadavers. The sample for these data will be expanded during Phase III. Results of this effort will be used in a geometric model of a body segment presented in the Interim Report. The model is also being revised to include a more sophisticated and complete treatment of the skeletal mass distribution of each segment.

4) The stability of skeletal features on the pelvis is being investigated on a collection of osteological specimens. The specimens are being measured in groups of approximately 30 males and 30 females until the total sample of approximately 150 males and 150 females is completed. Results, at this time, are preliminary. The statistical analysis of these data will utilize the techniques employed on the sample of 280 subjects investigated in Phase I.
4.2 Recommendations for Systems Anthropometry Research.

4.2.1 Instrumentation

There are two major concerns in taking the measurements required for Systems Anthropometry. First, to define a segment axis system from landmarks located as far apart as possible, a large stereo-measurement format is needed with a 36 cm width, 90 cm length, and a 60 cm depth. This fixed measurement space should have approximately 1% resolution with an accuracy of ±0.1 mm for the complete stereo-radiographic system to assure useably accurate data for axes systems definitions. Given an experimental system of this caliber,* the investigation would be able to focus on the biological variability of the population and the ability of the observer to record this variability.

In order to accomplish this level of measurement capability the following is recommended:

 assured orthogonality of x-ray stereo base, fiducial plane, and film plane by accurate alignment techniques with an x-ray system dedicated solely for systems anthropometric research;

 digital encoding methods for referencing repositioning of x-ray head and fiducial plane;

3) making the film plane independent of the fiducial plane, but orthogonal to the stereo base;

4) upon completion of a dedicated x-ray facility, a comprehensive calibration study which isolates and minimizes systematic and random error, and

5) application of these experimentally determined correction factors for systematic error to the measurement data in the computer program.

*A facility that will meet these requirements is currently being constructed at Michigan State University, College of Osteopathic Medicine where the project is now continuing in Phase III.

The second major concern in the measurements necessary for systems anthropometry concerns the measurement of the kinematic properties of each joint, or relative segment motion. This measurement must be made for small increments of joint displacement. Rotatory and translatory motions must be measured to obtain enough parameters to describe the characteristics of each relative to six degrees of freedom. The need for highly accurate information is also important since small increments of motion in the joint produces relatively large increments of motion at the extremity. There are two measurement techniques available to obtain the high resolution and high accuracy of small rotatory and translatory displacement in the anatomical joint--digital stereo-radiography and linkage transducers. Stereo-radiography has been used throughout this program and is familiar to all concerned. The linkage transducer is an assembly of links and revolute joints, and the ends of this transducer can be attached to two bodies. The transducer continuously measures the six degrees of freedom of relative motion of these bodies without restricting that motion. From these records of relative position, the kinematic characteristics of the joint(s) between the segments to which the linkage transducer is attached can be determined. By continuously measuring the six degrees of freedom of general three-dimensional motion with this type of instrument, the relative velocity and acceleration of segments to which it is attached can also be determined as continuous functions of time.

The best approach probably lies in a combination of both systems in order to use the advantages unique to both systems, and to answer questions relative to the three-dimensional anthropometric description of the dynamic body. Stereo-radiography could be used for measuring an initial position of skeletal segments and linkage transducer relative to each other. The relative movement of the segments could then be measured with

the linkage transducer. The positions of the segments relative to each other and the linkage transducer would be checked with stereo-radiographs.

4.2.2 Future Research

The research questions posed for Systems Anthropometry are primarily directed towards an understanding and documentation of the variability of body position and mobility. Body mobility must be investigated for both intra- and inter- individual variability. Of primary concern is the degree to which the joint kinematics are controlled by deterministic phenomenon versus probabilistic phenomenon. This question must be investigated by intensively studying reproducibility of the kinematic description on single joints of individuals. Following this type of research activity, the range and amount of variation in the population can be investigated. To obtain a thorough understanding of the measurable parameters of joint mobility in the population sufficient for prediction of body position and mobility, measurements with accuracy as good or better than the present work at HSRI must be continued to other body regions. These results will be analyzed using a recently developed three-dimensional kinematic analysis for a complete description of three-dimensional motion. The data and analytical results must be presented in explicit mathematical functions and in understandable computer aided graphic displays.

This investigation should therefore continue into collecting and analyzing additional data on the hip joint. Additional research should be directed towards a similar investigation of the spinal column. Both of these research areas should include parameters of body size in their investigation in order to examine the relationship between body size and kinematics. In conclusion, the primary goal for systems anthropometry is to provide a biological basis for a mechanical model to be used in computer simulations and minikin design.

-

Ĵ

-

-

5. LIST OF REFERENCES

- Braune, W. and O. Fischer 1889, "The Center of Gravity of the Human Body as Related to the German Infantryman." Leipzig. (ATI 138 452. Available from National Technical Information Service).
- Braune, W. and O. Fischer 1892, "Bestimmung der tragheitsmonents des menschlichen korpers und seiver glieder." Abh. d. Math. Phys. Cl. d. K. Saks. Gesell, d. Wiss., 18(8):409-492.
- Dempster, W. T. 1955, "Space Requirements of the Seated Operator." Report WADC-TR-55-159. (AD 87 892) Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio.
- Reynolds, H. M. 1977, "A Foundation for Systems Anthropometry, Phase I." Air Interim Report to the United States Air Force Office of Scientific Research. UM-HSRI-77-7. Ann Arbor, Mi. (Available from National Technical Information Service).

.

.

6. APPENDIX

A. Cadaver Anthropometry

- A.1. List of Landmark Definitions
- ACROMION The most lateral projection of the acromial process of the scapula.
- ANTERIOR SUPERIOR ILIAC SPINE A point on the pelvis located at the most anterior projection of the superior spine on the iliac portion of the pelvis.
- BALL OF HUMERUS The level of the most superior portion of the bicipital groove lying between the greater and lesser tuberosities of the humerus.
- CRINION The midpoint of the hairline on the forehead.
- DACTYLION The most distal point on the tip of the middle digit (III).
- DISTAL Remote; farther from any point of reference; opposed to proximal.
- FIBULARE The most proximal point on the head of the fibula.
- GLABELLA The most anterior point on the forehead that lies between the brow ridges in the mid-sagittal plane.
- GONION The most lateral point at the intersection of the horizontal and ascending rami of the mandible.
- ILIOCRISTALE The most superior point on the lateral edge of the iliac crest of the pelvis.
- MALLEOLUS The most medial and lateral projections on the distal end of the tibia and fibula, respectively.
- MANUBRIUM The cranial portion of the sternum, which articulates with the clavicles and the first two pairs of ribs.
- MASTOID The most inferior point on the tip of the mastoid process of the skull.
- MENTON The most antero-inferior point on the chin in the midsagittal plane.

- METACARPALS The long bones in the palm of the hand which articulate with the phalanges of the fingers.
- NUCHALE The point on the back of the skull in the mid-sagittal plane defined by the superior margin of the occiput and the neck, or nuchal, musculature.
- OLECRANON PROCESS The proximal portion of the ulna which forms the bony projection in the posterior projection of the elbow.
- OPISTHOCRANION The point on the back of the skull which lies at the greatest distance from Glabella.
- PROXIMAL Nearest; closer to any point of reference; opposed to distal.
- RADIALE The most superior lateral projection of the head of the radius found superficially at the level of the elbow dimple.
- SPHYRION The most distal tip of the tibia on the medial side of the ankle.
- STYLION The most distal tip of the radial styloid process.
- SUBSTERNALE A point on the anterior surface of the chest at the most inferior tip of the xiphoid process of the sternum.
- SUPRASTERNALE A point on the most inferior margin of the sternal notch at the top of the manubrium.
- SYMPHYSION A point in the mid-sagittal plane on the most anterior superior edge of the pubic symphysis of the pelvis.
- TIBIALE The point on the proximal end of the tibia located as the highest point on the margin of the glenoid in an antero-medial direction near the knee joint.
- TRAGION The notch in the cartilage of the ear at the superior margin of the tragus.

TROCHANTERION The most superior projection of the Greater Trochanter of the femur.

VERTEX The most superior point in the mid-sagittal plane on the head.

A.2. List of Measurement Definitions

- Weight: Record the nude weight of the cadaver to the nearest tenth of a kilogram at time of measurement.
- 2. Stature: Lay the cadaver on the measuring table with head in the Frankfort Plane against a board tangent to <u>Vertex</u> and parallel to the Frankfort Plane. Measure with an anthropometer the perpendicular distance from the headboard to the most distal point on the heels of the feet and average for total stature. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- 3. Trochanterion Height: Measure with an anthropometer the perpendicular distance from the headboard to right <u>Trochanterion</u>. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- 4. Symphysion Height: Measure with an anthropometer the perpendicular distance from the headboard to <u>Symphysion</u>. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- 5. Anterior Superior Iliac Spine (ASIS) Height: Measure the perpendicular distance from the headboard to right <u>Anterior Superior Iliac Spine</u>. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- Iliocristale Height: Measure the perpendicular distance from the headboard to right Iliocristale.

The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body

- 7. Substernale Height: Measure the perpendicular distance from the headboard to <u>Substernale</u>. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- 8. Mid-Chest Height: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the headboard to the point on the anterior surface of the chest mid-way between <u>Suprasternale</u> and <u>Substernale</u>. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- 10. Acrominon Height: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the headboard to right <u>Acromion</u>. The measurement should be parallel to the long axis of the body.
- 11. Mastoid Height: With the head in the Frankfort Plane against a board tangential to <u>Vertex</u> and parallel to the Frankfort Plane, measure the perpendicular distance from the headboard to the most inferior tip of the right mastoid process.
- 12. Tragion Height: With the head in the Frankfort Plane against a board tangential to <u>Vertex</u> and parallel to the Frankfort Plane, measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the headboard to right <u>Tragion</u>.
- 13. Tragion Depth: With the head in the Frankfort Plane, measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the surface on which the back of the head is resting to right <u>Tragion</u>.
- 14. Suprasternale Depth: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the surface on which

the body is resting to Suprasternale.

- 15. Mid-Chest Depth: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the surface on which the body is resting to the point on the anterior surface of the chest mid-way between <u>Suprasternale</u> and <u>Sub-</u><u>sternale</u>.
- 16. Substernale Depth: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the surface on which the body is resting to <u>Substernale</u>.
- 17. Anterior Superior Iliac Spine Depth: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the surface on which the body is resting to right Anterior Superior Iliac Spine.
- 18. Symphysion Depth: Measure the perpendicular distance with an anthropometer from the surface on which the body is resting to <u>Symphysion</u>.
- 19. Suprasternale-Acromion Distance: Measure the parallel distance with an anthropometer from <u>Suprasternale</u> to right and left <u>Acromion</u>.
- 20. Biacromial Diameter: Measure the distance with an anthropometer between the lateral edge of the right and left Acromions.
- 21. Mid-Chest Breadth: Measure with an anthropometer the breadth of the chest at a level mid-way between <u>Suprasternale</u> and <u>Substernale</u> perpendicular to the mid-sagittal plane.
- 22. Chest Breadth at Substernale: Measure with an anthropometer the breadth of the chest at <u>Substernale</u>.
- 23. Hip Breadth at Iliocristale: Measure with an anthropometer the boney breadth between the right and left Iliocristale landmarks perpendicular to the midsagittal plane.

- 24. Bispinous Diameter: Measure with an anthropometer the parallel distance between the right and left <u>Anterior</u> Superior Iliac Spines.
- 25. ASIS-Symphysion Distance: Measure with an anthropometer the parallel distance from Symphysion to right <u>An-</u>terior Superior Iliac Spine.
- 26. Bitrochanteric Breadth: Measure with an anthropometer the boney breadth between right and left <u>Trochanterions</u> perpendicular to the mid-sagittal plane.
- 27. Acromion-Radiale Length: Measure with an anthropometer the distance from Acromion to Radiale parallel to the long axis of the right upper limb.
- 28. Ball of Humerus-Radiale Length: Measure with an anthropometer the distance from <u>Ball-of-Humerus</u> to Radiale parallel to the long axis of the right upper limb.
- 29. Radiale-Stylion Length: Measure with an anthropometer the distance from <u>Radiale</u> to <u>Stylion</u> parallel to the long axis of the right lower arm.
- 30. Hand Length: Measure with sliding calipers the length of the hand from the distal wrist crease to <u>Dactylion</u> parallel to the long axis of the right hand.
- 31. Hand Breadth: Measure with sliding calipers the breadth of the right hand between the distal ends of Metacarpal II and Metacarpal V.
- 32. Hand Thickness: Measure with spreading calipers the maximum thickness of the right hand at the distal end of Metacarpal III.
- 33. Minimum Wrist Breadth: Measure with sliding calipers the

minimum breadth of the right wrist just proximal to the radial and ulnar styloid processes.

- 34. Forearm Depth: Measure with sliding calipers the maximum breadth of the right forearm at the same level as maximum forearm circumference.
- 35. Upper Arm Depth: Measure with sliding calipers the depth of the right upper arm at a level midway between the top of the shoulder and the inferior tip of the olecranon process.
- 36. Femur Length: Measure with an anthropometer the parallel distance from <u>Trochanterion</u> to <u>Fibulare</u> on the right leg.
- 37. Fibular Length: Measure with an anthropometer the parallel distance from <u>Fibulare</u> to the lateral <u>Malleolus</u> of the fibula on the right leg.
- 38. Tibia Length: Measure with an anthropometer the parallel distance from Tibiale to Sphyrion on the right leg.
- 39. Lower Leg Length: Measure with an anthropometer the parallel distance from Tibiale to the most distal point on the heel of the foot on the right leg.
- 40. Foot Length: Measure with an anthropometer the length of the right foot from the dorsal surface of the heel to the tip of the big toe along an axis parallel to the long axis of the foot.
- 41. Foot Breadth: Measure with sliding calipers the maximum breadth of the right foot at the level of the metatarsal-phalangeal joints.
- 42. Minimum Ankle Breadth: Measure with sliding calipers the minimum breadth of the right ankle proximal to the malleoli.
- 43. Maximum Calf Depth: Measure with sliding calipers the

maximum anterio-posterior depth at the level of maximum calf circumference on the right leg.

- 44. Upper Thigh Breadth: Measure with a beam anthropometer the breadth of the upper right thigh at the level of the crotch.
- 45. Head Breadth: Measure with spreading calipers the maximum horizontal breadth on the skull perpendicular to the mid-sagittal plane.
- 46. Head Length: Measure with spreading calipers the maximum length in the mid-sagittal plane between <u>Glabella</u> and <u>Opisthocranion</u>.
- 47. Bitragion Diameter: Measure with spreading calipers the distance between right and left <u>Tragions</u>.
- 48. Bigonial Diameter: Measure with spreading calipers the distance between right and left Gonions.
- 49. Mastoid-Crinion Length: Measure with the anthropometer the distance from the tip of the mastoid process to Crinion parallel to the mid-sagittal plane.
- 50. Head Circumference: With the tape passing just above <u>Glabella</u>, measure the maximum circumference of the head.
- 51. Mid-Sagittal Arc Length: Place the tape on <u>Glabella</u> and measure the arc length in the midsagittal plane to Nuchale.
- 52. Bitragion-Coronal Arc Length: Place the tape on left <u>Tragion</u> and measure the arc length to right <u>Tragion</u> in the Frontal Plane.
- 53. Mid-Neck Circumference: Measure the circumference of the neck with the tape passing inferior, but tangent to, the laryngeal prominence (Adam's Apple).

- 54. Chest Circumference at Mid-Chest: Measure the horizontal circumference at the level of the point on the anterior surface of the chest midway between Suprasternale and Substernale.
- 55. Chest Circumference at Substernale: Measure the horizontal circumference at the level of <u>Substernale</u>.
- 56. Hip Circumference, Iliocristale: Measure the horizontal circumference at the level of Iliocristale.
- 57. Buttocks Circumference at Trochanterion: Measure the horizontal circumference at the level of <u>Trochan</u>-<u>terion</u>.
- 58. Upper Arm Circumference: Measure the circumference of the upper arm at the level of half the length of the upper limb in a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the right limb.
- 59. Maximum Forearm Circumference: Measure the maximum circumference of the forearm with the tape in a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the right limb.
- 60. Minimum Wrist Circumference: Measure the minimum circumference of the wrist at the level proximal to the styloid processes of the radius and ulna in a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the right forearm.
- 61. Upper Thigh Circumference: Measure the circumference of the thigh tangent to the crotch in a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the right thigh.
- 62. Maximum Calf Circumference: Measure the maximum circumference of the calf in a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the right lower leg.

63. Minimum Ankle Circumference: Measure the minimum circumference of the ankle at the level proximal to the malleoli of the tibia and fibula on a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the right lower leg.

B. FORTRAN Program for Computing 3-D Coordinate Locations of Anthropometric Landmarks

The programs in the following listings were written for use on an AMDAHL 470/V6 and run under the University of Michigan's operating system known as the Michigan Terminal System (or MTS). Much of the code is written in standard FORTRAN IV, however, occasional use is made of MTS-supplied system subroutines such as FREAD which is a free format data I/O utility or FORTRAN extensions peculiar to MTS such as "IF(EQUC.....)."

The programs are:

- MAIN -- which reads the x-y data, and calculates much of the 3-d information (following the algorithm discussed in the lst Interim Report, Chapter 4.2). Additionally, main serves as the main program of the subroutines which follow.
- RAD -- supplied a value of x in degrees, RAD returnes as the equivalent in radians.
- DEG -- supplied a value of x in radians, DEG returns as the equivalent in Degrees.
- COORD -- performs a portion of the calculations discussed in Chapter 4.2 of the 1st Interim Report which are performed repeatedly during the execution.
- CORECT-- rotates and translates the x-y values read in from each x-ray into the same axis system, thus allowing x-rays to be placed on the digitizer without orienting them to the digitizer axis system.
- ORIENT-- calculates for each x-ray digitized, the rotation and translation of points to be performed by CORECT. Thus both stereo-pairs are oriented mathematically into the same axis system by use of fiducial marks on the film.

RAXIS -- a subprogram which rotates and translates the 3-d points of targets which are in the primary axis system into the coordinates of the secondary axis system. Utilizing the Algorithm discussed in Chapter 4.1 of the 1st Interim Report.

NICHIGAN	TERMINAL SYSTEM FORTHAN G(21.8)	MAIN	89-28-77	18145155	PAGE P	P 8 1
1001	THPLICIT REAL+8 (A-H,D-Z)			1.840		
8995	DIMENSION XIN(3), YIN(3), XA(20), YA	A(28),X8(28),Y	8(28),IA(1)	2.088		
282J	DIMENSION XOUT(20), YOUT(20), ZOUT((28)		3.000		
1994	LOGICAL+1 BUF(28),NAME(24,281,XC)	HAR, YCHAR, EQUC		4.873		
8825	HEAL HTARG, THGT			5,200		
	Ċ.			•,288		
	C. HTANG#"3" FILM TO DEJECT REFERENCE	E PLANE DISTAN	CE (CH)	7.433		
	C. THETE FILM PLANE TO CALIBRATION DE	EVICE TARGET D	ISTANCE (CM)	6,600		
	(.			9,289		
	C. A PROGRAM TO ANALIZE DIGITIZER DAT	TA BENT FROM T	HE HERI	10,000		
	C. NUMENICS DIGITIZET.			11.00*		
	C, SEE J, PREEMAN ON H, GOLOHN AT HUM	NI FOR DETAILS	•			
	C,			13.200		
	C. 04-84-77 HODIFIED FROM PDF-11745 1	CHBHI) ACHBION	MATLIEN	14,000		
	C. BY JRF AND DHG			15.000		
	C			10,000		
1000	DATA KUHAN/ K'/			17.002		
0.987	DATA TURAN 7"T"			10.000		
3478	CALL FREAD(-2) ENDF (1)			17.000		
10.0	TUCTAIN 1781			21.000		
1010	· ····································			37		
4313		N1971		22,000		
1010	0444 FURALLISTER DISTANCE TALUES (1)			23,700		
4914	1031 EODW/T(3041)			25 000		
4415	TEC UNT EQUE (BUR (1), VEHABLE OD T			24 838		
0017	UNITE (2 DOA)	• ••		27 644		
0417	QUE FORMAT('ERM')			24 889		
COLA	REAC(1.097)HTARS			29 800		
0019	997 FORMAT(013.4)			18.000		
0.023	-RITF(2.996)			11.404		
1821	996 FORMATCENTARGET TO FILM PLANE DI	STANCE (CH)=")		12.000		
2922	RF+D(1+997)THGT			11.000		
8423	10 HRTTE(2.1888)			34.028		
4424	1884 FORMAT ("SENTER STERED BASE VALUE	(CM-INCLUDE D	ECIMAL 19")	35.688		
PP25	READ(1,1091,END=508)8			36.000		
0026	1881 FORMAT(#12.4)			37,880		
P827	WHITE(2,1014)			38,200		
P 8 2 8	1814 FORMAT("ERT, LT ABIE THEN BYMPH F	FJRBT (Y/N)7*)		39,888		
1929	READ(1,1003,END=10)BUP			48.000		
7634	IPELV#P			41,000		
6931	IF(EQUC(BUF(1),YCHAR))]PELVe1			42.000		
C 0 3 2	58 HRITE(2,1987)			43,888		
8413	1927 FORMAT("PROSITION CALIBRATION X-	R#Y*)		44.208		
V#34	60 HHITE(2,100A)			45.008		
4935	10P5 FORMAT("ETHO CROSE HATE HARKE ON	X OR Y AXIBT')	46.009		
0630	REAC(),1883,END=5)BUF			47,888		
3937	TAXISHE			48,600		
4138	IF(EQUE(bUF(1),XCHAR)) IAXIBEL			49,888		
3P39	IF(EQUC(BUF(1),YCHAR)) IAXI8=+1			50.000		
2643	IF(IAXIS,EQ.0) GO TO 60			51,800		
0941	74 #RITE(2,1809)			52,888		
9645	1999 FORMAT("BENTER TWO POINTS ON ONE	AXIS, THEN TH	E THIRD")	53,888		
2843	CALL FREAD('SCARDS', '2R1', XIN(1)	,YIH(1),860)		54.000		
8244	CALL FFEAD("BCARDS","2R;",X1N(2).	,TIN(2),660)		55,000		

Paus CALL PREAD("SCARDS", "ZR,", XIN(3), YIN(3), SAMD) South State Call ONTOT(XIN, T, N, IAXIS, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) State Draw Call ONTOT(XIN, T, N, IAXIS, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) State March Call ONTOT(XIN, T, N, IAXIS, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) State March Call ONTOT(XIN, T, N, IAXIS, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) State March Call PREAD("SCARDS", ZR, T, XI, T) State March Call CONSTITUT, VI, XIRR, PREA, ANGLE) State March Call CONSTITUT, VI, XIRR, PREAD State March Call CONSTITUT, VI, XIRR, PREAD State March Call CONTON FREAD State	HICHIGAN T	ERMINAL BYSTEM FORTRAN D(21,8)	HAIN	89-28-77	18145155	PAGE POBE
C, (ALL DRIENT C, (ALL DRIENT	P845	CALL FREAD("BCARDS","2R1",	XIN(3), VIN(3), 868)		56.800	
C. CALL ORIGHT		C.			57.888	
C. CALL ONIENTICIN, T, N, TAXIS, SERR, YERR, ANGLE) 80.000 HYART HATTE(C, 1911) 81.000 HYART CALL FRECONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 82.000 HYART CALL FRECONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 82.000 HYART CALL FRECONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 82.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCT, Y, YERR, ANGLE) 83.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 82.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 82.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 82.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 84.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 84.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 84.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 84.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION COORDINATES*) 72.000 HYART CALL CONSTRUCTION C		C. CALL ORIENT			56.009	
Pres CALL ORICHTICIN,T.M.IAXIB.SERM.FERM.ANGLE) M. BBB MART MARTECL, [MI] M. BBB MART CALL PREADCREADS*, 201, 71, 713 M. BBB MART CALL PREADCREADS*, 201, 721, 71, 713 M. BBB MART CALL CONCENTRA, 721, 721, 721, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART CALL CONCENTRA, 721, 721, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART CALL CONCENTRA, 721, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART MARTER, 721, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART MARTER, 721, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART MARTER, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART MARTER, 721, 721, 721 M. BBB MART MARTER M. BBB MARTER MARTER		ε,			59,000	
WART MILE (2, 1911) 41.888 Prace 1111 FORMATICSENTER TWO DIAGONAL COONDINATES") 42.888 WARG CALL PREDCYSCRADS", 724.7, X1, X1) 53.889 PASS CALL CORECT(X1, Y1, XER, XER, ANG.E) 53.889 PASS CALL CORECT(X2, Y2, ZER, YER, ANG.E) 54.889 PASS De(X1-X2)+(X1-X2)+(Y1-Y2)+(Y1-Y2) 57.886 PASS De(X1-X2)+(X1-Y2)+(Y1-Y2) 57.886 PASS De(X1-X2)+(X1-Y2)+(Y1-Y2) 57.886 PASS De(X1-X2)+(X1-Y2)+(Y1-Y2) 57.886 PASS ANOTHOT (D-(Y, 4828)) 54.888 PASS ANOTHOT (D-(Y, 4828)) 75.886 PASS ANOTHOT (D-(Y, 4828)) 75.886 <td>8840</td> <td>CALL ORIENT(XIN,YIN,IAXIB,</td> <td>XERR, YERR, ANGLE)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	8840	CALL ORIENT(XIN,YIN,IAXIB,	XERR, YERR, ANGLE)			
name 111 FORMAT(FERTER TWO DIAGOMAL COONDINATER') \$2.888 name CALL PREDICTEGATOR', 24.7, 17.11 \$3.884 name CALL PREDICTEGATOR', 24.7, 17.17 \$3.884 name CALL CONCECTING, 17.887, 18.7, 12.1 \$3.885 name CALL CONCECTING, 17.887, 18.7, 18.7, 12.1 \$3.885 name CALL CONCECTING, 17.887, 17.1 \$3.885 name name \$4.885 name name \$4.885 name name \$5.885 name \$5.885 \$5	4947	##ITE(2,1#11)			.1.800	
uniq CitL FREDCYCRADS*, 724', X1, X1) \$3.68* er55 CALL CORECT(X1, Y1, XER, XER, AMQLE) \$5.88* e651 CALL CORECT(X2, Y1, XER, XER, AMQLE) \$5.88* e652 CALL CORECT(X2, Y1, XER, YER, AMQLE) \$5.88* e653 Det(X1-X2) + (X1-X2) + (Y1-Y2) \$7.88* e654 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$8.88* e655 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$8.88* e656 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$8.88* e657 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e785 ALL FRECT (CO-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e785 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e785 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e786 ADDOTHOT (Co-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e787 CALL FRECT (CO-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e788 CALL FRECT (CO-17, 48#2A) \$7.88* e788 CALL FRECT (CO-17, 78.78* \$7.88* e789 CALL FRECT (CO-17, 78.78* \$7.88* e789 CALL FRECT (CO-17, 78.78* \$7.88* e789 CALL FRECT (CO-17, 78.78* \$7.88* e780 CAL FRECT (CO-17, 78.78* <td>PagA</td> <td>1311 FORMAT("DENTER TWO DIAGONA</td> <td>L COORDINATES")</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	PagA	1311 FORMAT("DENTER TWO DIAGONA	L COORDINATES")			
PHSS CALL PREDCYCLAPDS*, ZAR*, ZAR*, X23 4.689 PHSS CALL CORECT(X2), Y1, XERA, YERA, XAGLE1 5.680 PHSS CALL CORECT(X2), Y1, XERA, YERA, XAGLE1 6.780 PHSS De0007(C) 6.782 PHSS Action (C), Y1, XERA, YERA, XAGLE1 6.780 PHSS Action (C), Y1, XERA, YERA, XAGLE1 7.780 PHSS Action (C), Y1, XERA, YERA, XAGLE1 7.780 PHSS CALL CORECT(X1, Y1, XERA, YERA, XAGLE1 7.780 PHSS CALCORECT(X1, Y1, XERA, YERA, YERA, XAGLE1 7.800 PHSS CALCORECT(X1, Y1, XERA, YERA, YERA, XAGLE1 7.800 PHSS CALCORECT(X1, Y1, XERA, YERA,	10 P A 10	CALL FREAD("BCARDS","2R1",	X1, Y1)		63.000	
00051 CALL CORECT(X1,Y1,XERA,YERA,AG(E) 65,880 0052 CALL CORECT(X2,Y2,XERA,YERA,AG(E) 64,880 0053 De(X1-X2)+(X1-X2)+(Y1-Y2)+(Y1-Y2) 67,080 0054 De0007(0) 64,880 0055 As0007(0) 72,080 0056 As0007(0) 72,080 0057 As0007(0) 72,080 0058 As0007(0) 71,087 0059 CALL PREVIOUS (CONDINATES') 71,087 0050 Call PREVIOUS (CONDINATES') 71,087 0050 Call PREVIOUS (CONDINATES) 71,080 0050 Call PREVIOUS (CONDINATES) 71,080 0051 Call PREVIOUS (CONDINATES) 71,080 <t< td=""><td>P#58</td><td>CALL FREAD("SCARDS","28;",</td><td>X2, Y2)</td><td></td><td>64,688</td><td></td></t<>	P#58	CALL FREAD("SCARDS","28;",	X2, Y2)		64,688	
0052 CALL CONECT(X2,Y2,Y2,M2M,YEAM,YEAM,AGLE) 4884 0053 000007(0) 4884 0054 000007(0) 4884 0055 4884 4884 0056 000007(0) 4884 0057 4884 4884 0058 4847 7884 0059 4847 7884 0050 4847 7884 0051 44740(7)/1*G1 7884 0051 74847 7884 0051 74847 7884 0051 74847 7884 0052 74847 7884 0053 000071AR 7884 0054 74847 7884 0055 000071AR 7884 0054 000071AR 7884 0055 000071AR 7884 000071AR 000071AR 8884 000071AR 000071AR 8884 000071AR 000071AR 8884 000071AR 000071AR 8884 00071AR	8451	CALL CORECT(X1,Y1,XERR,YE	R, ANGLE)		65.888	
U053 De(X1-A2)+(X1-A2)+(Y1-Y2) 47,646 U054 De(X1-A2)+(Y1-Y2)+(Y1-Y2) 48,766 U055 AsDaTHOT(C-17,4627A) 48,766 U055 AsDaTHOT(C-17,4627A) 77,867 U055 AsDaTHOT(C-17,4627A) 77,867 U056 Astrongly, IVACT 77,867 U057 Astrongly, IVACT 77,867 U057 CALL PRED(*SCLADS*, '281', X1,71) 71,967 U056 CALL PRED(*SCLADS*, '281', X1,71) 71,967 U057 CALL PRED(*SCLADS*, '18, Y1,474,474) 71,967 U057 CALL PRED(*SCLADS*, '18, Y1,474,1450) 71,968 CALL PRED(*SCLADS*, '18, Y1,474,1450) 71,968 71,968 CALL PRED(*SCLADS*, '18, Y1,474,1450) 71,974 71,968 CALL	8852	CALL CORECT(X2, Y2, XERR, YER	R, ANGLE)		44.829	
0x54 0x0007(0) 04.88 0x55 4x0x+107(0-17,048283) 64.88 0x55 4x0x+107(10-17,048283) 64.88 0x55 4x0x+107(10-17,048283) 72.88 0x55 1012 F00+41(F02,1012) 71.88 0x55 1012 F00+41(F02,1012) 72.88 0x55 1012 F00+41(F02,1012) 72.88 0x55 104.10000000000000000000000000000000000	6953	D=(X1-x5)+(X1-X5)+(X1-X5)+	(11-12)		67,848	
0955 Aso PTHOT (C-17,08287) 84,000 0954 Ast Proc (C-17,08287) 72,000 0955 Ast Proc (C-17,08287) 72,000 2857 Ast Proc (C-17,08287) 72,000 2856 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 72,000 2856 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 73,000 2856 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 73,000 2866 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 73,000 2866 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 73,000 2867 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 73,000 2868 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,281,711 73,000 2868 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 2817,2817 74,000 2868 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2869 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2860 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2861 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2863 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2864 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2865 (AL, PRED)"SCAPDE", 28,000 74,000 2866 (AL, PRED)"S	8054	D+DBGFT(D)			68,88C	
Pags Ax(A-THOT)/THOT 72.880 2857 HITC2.10(2) 71.880 2857 10(2 FCRAAT(FCRAFE CENTER TARGET COOPDNATES') 72.880 2857 CALL CONCENTS, YI, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) 72.880 2856 CALL CONCENTS, YI, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) 72.880 2856 CALL CONCENTS, YI, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) 74.880 2857 CALL CONCENTS, YI, XERR, YERR, ANGLE) 74.880 2860 CAL-THAT 75.880 2862 YEA-TIAL 75.880 2863 OAA-THETATHOT 77.880 2865 OAA-THETATHOT 77.880 2866 C. C. NUMBER OF POINTS TO DISTIZE 82.880 C. C. NUMBER OF POINTS TO DISTIZET') 83.880 C. C. SARE SARE C. SARE SARE SARE C. C. SARE SARE C. C. SARE SARE C. SARE SARE SARE C. SARE SARE <td>8855</td> <td>A#0+THGT/(D+17,98828)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>64,279</td> <td></td>	8855	A#0+THGT/(D+17,98828)			64,279	
2837 #TIE(2,1912) 71.000 2835 1012 FORMATIC SENTER CENTER TARGET COORDINATES') 72.000 2835 (ALL PRED)"SCAPDS", FRI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, Y	P854	A B (A - THGT) / THGT			78.000	
arss 1012 FORMATICREWIER CENTER TARGET COORDINATES") 72.886 Pass CALL CONCENTS, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI, YI	8857	HRITE(2,1412)			71.800	
Pars CALL FREAD("SCARDS", "ZAF, "YAT, "XI, YI) 71.986 BREAN CALL FREAD("SCARDS", "ZAF, "YAT, "XI, YI) 71.986 BREAN CALL CONCCT(X) XERA, "YATA, "XI, YI) 71.986 BREAN CALL CONCCT(X) XERA, "YATA, "XI, YI) 71.986 BREAN ZE-114A 75.876 BREAN CALL 71.986 PBES OwarTHATG 71.888 PBES OwarTHATG 71.888 C. UNPER OF POINTS TO DISITIZE 81.886 C. UNPER OF POINTS TO DISITIZET') 53.886 C. C. SERE 2.886 C. UNPER OF POINTS TO DISITIZET') 53.886 C. SERE 2.886 2.886 SERE SERE 2.886 2.886 SERE SERE 2.886 2.886 SERE <td>2628</td> <td>1012 FORMAT("BENTER CENTER TARK</td> <td>ET COORDINATE®")</td> <td></td> <td>72.084</td> <td></td>	2628	1012 FORMAT("BENTER CENTER TARK	ET COORDINATE®")		72.084	
BRBAN CALL CONCECT(X1,Y1,XERR,YERR,ANGLE) 74.888 B661 ZE11A 75.886 B662 YE11A 76.886 B662 YE11A 76.886 B663 DAX-HET,YHOT 77.886 B665 DAX-HET,YHOT 77.886 C. C. SER C. L. B6.866 C. SER SER C. L. SER C. L. SER C. L. SER C. SER SER C. L. SER C. SER SER SER SER SER	2859	CALL FREAD("BCARDS","2R1",	*1, *1)		73.900	
9661 IZE-11A 75.872 9662 V2-11A 76.887 9663 Out-11AF 77.888 9664 Augo-TAMG 77.888 C. VERTICAL 77.888 VERTICAL 77.888 88.986 C. VERTICAL 81.986 C. VERTICAL 82.986 C.	8868	CALL CORECT(X1,Y1,XERR,YE	R, ANGLE)		74.020	
082 YE-TIA 7.688 0852 04-TIAL 7.688 0853 04-TIAL 7.688 0853 04-TIAL 7.688 0853 04-TIAL 7.688 0853 04-TIAL 7.688 085 04-TIAL 7.688 085 05.7 7.688 085 05.7 8.686 085 05.7 8.686 085 05.7 8.686 0857 0.4076 8.686 0868 07.7 14.74.14.589 8.686 0868 07.7 14.74.14.14.589 8.686 0868 07.7 14.74.14.14.589 8.686 0868 07.7 14.74.14.14.14.13 8.686 0872 13.847.16.2.14.10 8.686 0872 13.847.16.2.14.10.1 8.686 0872 13.847.16.2.14.10.1 8.686 0872 13.847.16.2.14.10.1 8.686 0872 13.847.16.2.14.2.11 8.686 <	8861	XE=->1+4			75.800	
P863 Out+INGT THOT 77.888 C. TARG 77.888 C. TARG 77.888 C. UPDE4 OF POINTS TO DISITIZE 81.886 C. UPDE4 OF POINTS TO DISITIZE 81.886 C. UPDE4 OF POINTS TO DISITIZES 81.886 C. UPDE4 OF POINTS TO DISITIZES') 85.866 C. UPDE4 OF ACADS NUMBER OF POINTS 81.886 C. TETC/1682) 85.866 C. UPDE4 OF ACADS NUMBER OF POINTS 85.866 C. TETC/1682)	8862	YE=-Y1*A			74.888	
AND-TIARD 78.080 C. C. C. C. HUMBER OF POINTS IC DIGITIZE 88.080 C. C. S. C. C. S. C. C. S. C. C. S. C. S. S. S. S.	P863	D=A+THGT+THGT			77.000	
C. HUMBER OF POINTS IC DISITIZE 74 AND I POR SOME POINTS 84 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS IC DISITIZE 84 POR SOME POINTS 84 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 STATE PARS 1000 POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR SOME POINTS 84 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR SOME POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 POR POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 POINTS 10 DISITIZET 10 POR C. HUMBER OF POINTS 10 POINTS 1	C964	A #D = HT ARG			78.000	
C. HUMBER OF POINTS 1: DIAITIZE 8., PRE C. C. THEN (ALCULATE X,Y AND I FOR SOME POINTS 22, PRE C. C. THEN (ALCULATE X,Y AND I FOR SOME POINTS C. C. S., PRE PRESS 28 PETERS, PRESS 29, PRESS 29, PRESS 29, PRESS 20,		د.			74.808	
C. \$1,000 C. 14474 (A.CULATE X.Y AND I FOR SOME POINTS 52,000 C.		C. NUMBER OF POINTS TO DISITI	18		68,888	
C.11494 CALCULATE X/Y AND I FOR SOME POINTS 82,800 C. S. PRICE S. PREC 2005 20 PRITE(2,2)802) S. PRE 2006 1002 FOR SATURE X/Y AND I FOR POINTS TO DISTIIZET') S. PRE 2007 CALL PREAD("SCAPDS", YI Y#",IALLASSO S. PRE 2008 CALL PREAD("SCAPDS", YI Y#",IALLASSO S. PRE 2009 CALL PREAD("SCAPDS", YI Y#",IALLASSO S. PRE 2001 CALL PREAD("SCAPDIN") S. PRE S. PRE 2001 CALL PREAD(YSCAPD) S. PRE S. PRE 2001 CALL PREAD(YSCAPDE) S. PRE S. PRE 2001 CALL PREAD(YSCAPDE) S. PRE S. PRE 2001 CALL PREAD(YSCAPD) S. PRE S. PRE 2001		ς.			61,000	
C. 83,ARC 2665 20 +FITE(2,1692) 83,ARC 0064 1992 200+31'420'ER // 2010/18 TO DIBITIZET') 85,PES 2065 7 (AL, PERDESCROS', 1 V(*,1A,1,480) 85,PES 2066 41,PES 2067 10,100 16:1,12,007 85,PES 2071 10,00 16:1,12,007 85,PES 2072 10,00 16:1,12,007 85,PES 2073 1993 700AT(10,16,12,'1') 85,PES 2073 1993 700AT(10,16,12,'1') 85,PES 2073 1993 700AT(10,16,12,'1') 85,PES 2075 1005 FORAT(24,1) 85,PES 2076 FES 2077 1015 FORAT(24,1) 85,PES 2077 1015 FORAT(24,1) 85,PES 2078 FES 2078 FES 2070 FE		C.THEN CALCULATE XIY AND I FOR I	ICHE POINTS		82.000	
PARS ParticiURR2] #4.282 URB IPPZ FORMATICI_URR2[# DF POINTS TO DISTIZET') \$5.765 URB IPPZ FORMATICI_URR2[14]) \$6.866 URB IPPZ FORMATICI_URR2[14]) \$7.065 URB IPPZ FORMATICI_URR2[16] \$7.065 URB IPPZ FORMATICI_URR2[16]<		۵.			83,000	
une 1002 2004 30,450 une 1004 1004 1004 1004 une	2845	20 HPITE(2,1002)			84,997	
20.6 Y Y = X = X = X = X = X = X = X = X = X =	00.66	1842 FORMATL'SENTER NUMBER OF I	DINTS TO DISITIZET			
a6.0 -0;17(2,:084)]14(1) 07.00 Gneq 1pm r (Dext)T(C2CH(0); 1;2,* NAFF8*/) 07.00 pn7m 1A0/T=11(1) 08.00 d011 10.01 01.01 d011 10.01 01.01 d011 10.01 01.01 d012 35.02 01.01 d011 10.01 01.01 d011 10.01 01.01 d012 35.02 01.01 d013 100.01 01.01 d014 100.01 01.01 d015 100.01 100.01 d015 100.01 100.01 d016 100.01 100.01 d017 00.01 10.01 d016 10.01 10.01 d017 00.01 10.01 d016 10.01 10.01 d016 10.01 10.01 d016 10.01 10.01 d016 10.01 10.01	6461	CALL FREAD("SCARDS","I VE	',IA,1,458)			
ena (pA-3)(-)Device ',[2,' MAPE'/) 80,000 ep74 [a,b] 80,000 ep71 10' we [w:1,120] 80,000 ep72 10' we [w:1,120] 80,000 ep73 10' we [w:1,120] 80,000 ep74 an provide [ki,120] 80,000 ep75 10' we [w:1,120] 80,000 ep75 10' we [w:1,120] 80,000 ep75 10' we [w:1,120] 80,000 ep76 et ep12(2,000) 80,000 ep77 11' (20,000) 10' (20,000) ep78 et ep12(2,000) 80,000 ep78 et ep12(2,000) 80,000 ep78 et ep12(2,000) 10' (20,000) ep78 et ep12(2,000) 10' (20,000) ep78 et ep12(2,00	9864	+917F(2,1884)IA(1)			87.008	
PAP IANUTAILII PAP PAPI IANUTAILII PE PBT2 IS Matter PE PBT2 IS Matter PE PBT3 IPPS FORMATINE, IZ, 'r') PE PE PBT3 IPPS FORMATINE, IZ, 'r') PE PE PBT3 IPPS FORMATINE, IZ, 'r') PE PE PBT5 IPPS FORMATICA41 PE PE PBT5 NE NETTEC2, IPPS INTO LEFT X-RAY, REGET SYSTEM AND HIY RETURNY') PE PBT5 PEAD(IL, IPPS, ENDERDING PE PE PBT6 PEAD(IL, IPPS, ENDERDING PE PE PBT7 PE PE PE PE PBT7 PE PE PE PE PBT7 PE <td>8064</td> <td>1884 FORMATCOUNTER -,12, - NAM</td> <td>(</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	8064	1884 FORMATCOUNTER -,12, - NAM	(
dp1 0.1 40 (0:1,1400) 0.1 00 dp72 3 44 (1:1,200) 0.1 00 dp73 1874 (0.1,100,12,11,2) 0.2 00 dp73 1874 (0.1,100,12,00,100,12) 0.2 00 dp75 1000 FORMAT(2)(10 LEFT X-RAY, REGET SYSTEM AND HIT RETURNY') 0.4 00 dp75 1000 FORMAT(2)(10 LEFT X-RAY, REGET SYSTEM AND HIT RETURNY') 0.4 00 dp76 0.0 01(1)(00,1 00,1 00,1 00,1 00,1 00,1 00,1 00,1	CATA	IADVT#14(1)				
UB2 35 W110(:WP21. V1.000 MB73 IEAF FORMAT(1:6:12','') V2.000 MB74 UB FCA0(1)EFB.(EVO220)(NAME(J,I),J01/26) V2.000 MB75 IAO FCANAT(2:4) V2.000 MB75 NO WATT(2:4) V2.000 MB75 NO WATT(2:0) V2.000 MB76 READ(1:1:62:0) V2.000 MB77 ALO(1:1:A3).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB78 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB78 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB78 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB78 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB79 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB70 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB70 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB70 READ(1:1:03).EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB71 V2.000.EVD-2010UF V2.000 MB72 IF(COUCSUF(1).VCMARD) IAIE=-1 IEE.000 MB73 IF(COUCSUF(1).VCMARD) IAIE=-1 IEE.000 MB74 IF(COUCSUF(1).VCMARD) IAIE=-1 IEE.000 MB75	4871	5" 48 101.IAUUT			40,000	
PB73 (PR5) (PR5) (PR5) PB74 (PR5) (PR5) (PR5) PB75 (PR6) (PR6) (PR6) PB76 (PR6) (PR6) (PR6) PB77 (PR6) (PR6) (PR6) PB78 (PR6) (PR6) (PR6) PB88 (PR6) (PR6) (PR6) PB88 (PC0) (PR6) (PR6)	6972	32 44115(5/1682)1			41,000	
NR 100 F CAULE (0,1), JA1, ZAV 0, 000 B275 100 F CAULT(2,4) 0, 000 B275 100 F CAULT(2,4) 0, 000 B275 101 F CAULT(2,4) 0, 000 B275 101 F CAULT(2,4) 0, 000 B275 ACO(1,1,43), EVE220 BUF 0, 000 R076 ACO(1,1,43), EVE220 BUF 0, 000 R0777 04 ACO(1,1,43), EVE220 BUF 0, 000 B000 14,164 0, 000 B000 14,164 0, 000 B000 14,164 0, 000 B000 17 (CAU(CSUF(1),X(HAR)) JAXIB=1 161, 000 B000 17 (CAU(CSUF(1),X(HAR)) JAXIB=1 162, 000 B000 17 (CAU(CSUF(1),X(HAR)) JAXIB=1 162, 000 B000 17 (CAU(CSUF(1),X(HAR)) JAXIB=1 163, 000 B000 17 (CAU(CSUF(1),X(HAR)) JAXIB=1 163, 000 B000 17 (CAU(CSUF(1),X(HAR)) JAXIB,X(HAR),TIN(1),X(HAR)) 164, 000 B000 CALL F F2AO((SCADD*, 'AR',XIN(2),TIN(1),X(HAR)) 164, 000 B000 CALL F F2AO((SCADD*, 'AR',XIN(2),TIN(3),X(HAR)) 164, 000 B000 CALL F2AO((SCADD*, 'AR',XIN(3),TIN(3		1642 FORMALLING/12/11/			42.000	
0/15 1000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/15 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/15 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/15 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/15 1.100 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/15 1.100 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/15 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/16 1.100 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/17 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/16 1.100 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/16 1.100 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/17 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ****** 0/16 1.100 F/UMALL(241) ******* 0/17 0.000 F/UMALL(241) ************************************	1014	48 READ(1)1000,ENDE20)(44-6(.	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		43.000	
00 00<	2015	1010 PURMATER 11				
ep;// [1]; / UNEXI: 4-00 [1] UNE [2]; / UNEXI; REC: DIGEN AND NJ NEIGHT, / ************************************	0070	00 **1'E(\$',\$13)				
Parte Parte <th< td=""><td>2077</td><td>1013 LONATIC PLOSTICA FELL VA</td><td>CAT, REAL! STUICH AND HI</td><td>II ALIVANT /</td><td>67 838</td><td></td></th<>	2077	1013 LONATIC PLOSTICA FELL VA	CAT, REAL! STUICH AND HI	II ALIVANT /	67 838	
Prior Prior Prior Prior Prior Pr	P0/0	AA _BTTE() (044)				
0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0001 14/100 14/100 0000 14/100 14/100 0000 14/100 14/100 0000 14/100 14/100 0000 14/100 14/100 0000 14/100 14/100 0000 14/100 14/100	80.14	48 HR112(2)10007				
002 17(CQU(CSUF(1),CC+AB)) 1x[0+1 10),CC 003 17(CQU(CSUF(1),CC+AB)) 1x[0+1 10),CC 003 17(CQU(CSUF(1),CC+AB)) 1x[0+1 10),CC 004 17(CQU(CSUF(1),CC+AB)) 1x[0+1 10),CC 005 5 17(CQU(CSUF(1),CC+AB)) 1x[0+1 10),CC 0045 5 5 17(CQU(CSUF(1),CC+AB)) 1x[0+1 0045 5 17(CQU(CSUF(1),TW(1),ABS)) 18,CB 0045 CALL FREAD(*GCABD*,*20*(*,XIN(2),TIN(2),ABS) 18,CB 10,CB 0046 CALL FREAD(*GCABD*,*20*(*,XIN(2),TIN(3),ABS) 18,CB 10,CB 0046 CAL		1441848			188 888	
mod i/idot(i/;YC+RR) i/iiii=1 iiii=1 mod i/idot(i/;YC+RR) i/iiii=1 iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii	0001	TELEOUCLEUELLA ACHARAA IA			181.000	
main if(1x13,40,0) ig),000 ig),000 gass ig),000 ig),000 ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("GCADD", "20","XI(1),TIN(1),1003) ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("GCADD", "20","XI(2),TIN(1),1003) ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("GCADD", "20","XIN(2),TIN(2),1003) ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("GCADD", "20","XIN(2),TIN(2),1003) ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("GCADD", "20","XIN(3),TIN(3),1003) ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("SCADD", "20","XIN(3),TIN(3),003 ig),000 gass CALL FREAD("SCADD", "20","XIN(3),000 ig),000	4081	TECEDUC(BUP(1), VCHAR)) TA	18		142.484	
005 95 witt(2),1804) 164,883 0055 95 witt(2),1804) 164,883 0065 CALL FREAD(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(1),YIN(1),865) 164,883 0065 CALL FREAD(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(1),YIN(2),845) 164,883 0065 CALL FREAD(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(2),FIN(2),845) 164,883 0066 CALL FREAD(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(2),FIN(2),845) 164,883 0066 CALL OFICH(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(3),FIN(3),845) 166,883 0066 CALL OFICH(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(3),FIN(3),845) 166,883 007,883 CALL OFICH(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(3),FIN(3),845) 166,883 007,884 CALL OFICH(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(3),FIN(3),784,833) 166,883 007,884 CALL OFICH(SCADE', 2R(F,XIN(3),784,784,784,784,784,784,783) 166,883 </td <td>8944</td> <td>TRITANTS FO BL GO TO BE</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>181.000</td> <td></td>	8944	TRITANTS FO BL GO TO BE			181.000	
0046 CALL PREAD("GCADD*, "28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""28",""	8845	45 w#17F(2.1895)			184.898	
0857 CALL PREAD(*SCADD*, 'ZR(*, XIW(2), YIW(2), E45) 10.000 0867 CALL PREAD(*SCADD*, 'ZR(*, XIW(2), YIW(2), E45) 10.000 0868 CALL PREAD(*SCADD*, 'ZR(*, XIW(3), TIW(2), E45) 10.000 0869 CALL OP(E+T(XIW(3), TIW(3), E45) 10.000	8986	CALL FREADL'SCARDS". "284"	XIN(1).VIN(1).6951		185.800	
#068 CALL #READ("SCADD4", "20 (",x]w(3), "TW(3), %05) 107,800 #060 CALL ØTEPKT(XN, YTN, JAKIS, KERR, YERR, JAGLE) 108,800 #064 IAOUTEJAC() 109,000 #064 IAOUTEJAC() 109,000 #064 IAOUTEJAC() 109,000	9887	CALL FREAD("BCARDS", "2R1"	x1N(2), YIN(2), 4951		184.808	
R089 CALL DATEHT(XIN,YIN,JAXI8,XERN,YERN,AMGLE) 188,000 D498 1400Teja(1) 199,000 R491 D0 148 Isijadut 119,400	P988	CALL PREADC'SCAPDS", "2R1"	XIN(3), VIN(3), 695)		187,800	
8998 IADUT=IA(I) 199,880 8991 DO 186 I=1,IADUT 119,840	P889	CALL OFIENTIXIN, YIN, JAXIS	XERR, YERR, ANGLE)		188.898	
RR91 DO 1R8 INJ, FADUT 119, 640	8448	IAOUT#IA(1)			109,000	
	8891	DO 188 INI, IADUT			110,000	

ICHIGAN	TERMINAL SYSTEM FORTHAN G(21.8)	MAIN	89-28-77	18145155	PAGE P003
0092	#RITE(2,1814)(NAME(J,T),J=1,24)		111.080	
0093	1314 FORMAT(1H8,24A1)			112,000	
8094	CALL FREAD("SCARDS", "2	R:",XA(I)/YA(I))		113.200	
3895	1PO CALL CORECT(XA(I), YA(I),XERR,YERR,ANGLE)		114.000	
3896	105 WRITE(2,1815)			115,020	
C 897	1015 FORMAT("&POSITION FIGH	T X-RAY, RESET BYBTEM A	ND ENTER RETURN?")	116.000	
0098	READ(1,1003,END=105)8U	•		117.038	
3499	110 WRITE(2,1008)			118.000	
0180	READ(1,1003,END=1#5)BU	F		119.000	
3191	IAXI3=0			120.000	
8182	IF(EQUC(BUF(1),XCHAR))	IAXIS=1		151.000	
2183	IF(EQUC(BUF(1),YCHAR))	IAXIS=-1		155.959	
0164	IF(IAXIS.EQ.0) GO TO 1	19		153.000	
6185	115 HRITE(2,1009)			124.000	
8160	CALL FREAD("SCARDS","2	R1",XIN(1),YIN(1),6115)	}	125,000	
0107	CALL FHEAD("SCARDS","2	R:",XIN(2),YIN(2),&115))	126.000	
8108	CALL FREAD("SCARDS","2	R:",XIN(3),YIN(3),&115))	127.000	
0199	CALL ORIENTCXIN, YIN, IA	XIS, XERR, YERR, ANGLE)		128.000	
P110	IADUT#IA(1)			129.000	
8111	DO 120 I=1,IAOUT			130.000	
9112	#RITE(2,1014)(NAME(J,I),J=1,24)		131.000	
8113	CALL FREAD("SCARDS","2	R:",X8(I),Y8(1))		132.000	
0114	120 CALL CORECT(X8(I),Y8(I),XERR,YERR,ANGLE)		133,000	
	t.			134.000	
	C. NOW CALCULATE			135.000	
	с.			136.000	
0115	IAGUT=IA(1)			137.000	
P116	DO 130 [=1,140UT			138.000	
0117	DT1=D*(8/2.0)/4			139.000	
0118	0T2=+1.#+0T1			140.000	
0119	Y1=(YA(1)+YB(1))**5			141.000	
8120	CALL COORD(B, OT1, OT2, X	A(I),X8(I),Y1,A,D,X,Y,Z	ζ)	142,000	
0121	XTE#P#X=(8+0.5)			143,000	
	c.			144.000	
	C. NOW ITERATE - FIRST ADJ	UBT OT		145,000	
	c.			146,000	
8122	8 . HTARG			147.000	
0123	AT#XE+3/A			148.000	
8124	OT1=UT1+AT			144,000	
0125	0T2=0T2+AT			150,000	
	c.			151.000	
	C. CORRECT X VALUES			152.000	
	c,			155,000	
0126	ITRYEO			154.000	
0127	ATHXE+(Z+HTARG)/(A+Z)			155.000	
9159	KA(I)=XA(I)+AT			156,000	
0129	X8(I)=X8(I)+AT			157,000	
	c.			150.000	
	C. CORRECT Y			124.000	
	С.			100.000	
0130	ATEYE (Z+HTARG)/(A=Z)			101.090	
0131	Y1#Y1+AT			107,000	
			B. 7 B.		
P132	CALL COORD(B, OT1, OT2, X	A(1), A0(1), T1, A, U, A3, T		140 808	
P132 0133	CALL CODRD(B, DT1, DT2, X XPX3	A(1), XC(1), T1, A, U, A3, T		164.000	

HICHIGAN	TERMINAL SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21	.8) MAIN	89-28-77	18145155	PAGE P804
6135	2=23			146,888	
0136	XTEMP=X-(8+8,5)			167.000	
8137	XOUT(I)=XTEMP			168.000	
0138	YOUT(I)=Y			169.820	
0139	2007(1)=2			178.800	
2140	130 CONTINUE			171.000	
0141	IF(IPELV.ER.1) GO	TO 148		172.000	
8142	IAOUT#IA(1)			173.298	
8143	DO 135 1=1. TAOUT			174.000	
0144	WRITE(2,1918)			175.000	
0145	1018 FORMAT(/*LADJUSTE	D COORDINATES: ")		176.000	
P146	135 WRITE(2.1017) (NAM	E(J.1), J=1.24), XOUT(1), YOUT	1),2001(1)	177.080	
4147	1017 FORMAT(1H+.2441/"	X#*, G13.4.* Y#*, G13.4.* Z#*	.G13.4)	178.000	
0148	60 TO 64			179.882	
0149	140 CALL RAYIS(XOUT,Y	OUT, ZOUT, IA(1), NAME)		160.000	
2158	60 TO 58			181.000	
6151	500 STOP			182.000	
0152	END			183.000	
OPTI	UNS IN FEFECTA TO FRODIC, BOU	RCE.NOLIST.NODECK.LOAD.NOMA	•		
+0PT1	ONS IN EFFECT+ NAME # MAIN	LINECHT # 57			
+57AT	INTICA. SOURCE STATEMENTS	. 152.PROGRAM BITE	7184		
+STAT	ISTICSA NO DIAGNOSTICS GENER	ATED			

MICHIGAN TEP	MINAL SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21,8)	RAD	29-28-77	18:45:56	PAGE PORI
4881	FUNCTION RADIX)			184,000	
0665	HEAL+B GAD,X			185.000	
0003	PADEx/57.29577951			186.000	
3004	RETURN			187,000	
4385	END			188,000	
*0P110N\$	IN EFFECT+ ID, EBCDIC, SOURCE, NOLIST	, NODECK, LOAD, NOMAP			
<pre>+OPTIONS</pre>	IN EFFECT+ NAME = RAD , LINECN	T # 57			
*STATISTI	ICS+ SPURCE STATEMENTS = 5	,PROGRAH BIZE =	300		
*STATISTI	CS+ NO DIAGNOSTICS GENERATED				

.

•

MICHIGAN TE	RMINAL SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21.8)	DEG	89-28-77	18:45:57	PAGE PODI
0001	FUNCTION DEG(X)			189.888	
0002	REAL+8 DEG.X			198.888	
3903	DEG=X*57,29577951			191.000	
2304	RETURN			192.000	
4662	END			193.000	
+OPTIONS	IN EFFECTA ID, ERCDIC, SOURCE, NOLIST	NODECK.LOAD.NOMAP			
+OPTIONS	IN EFFECT+ NAME # DEG . LINECH	7 # 57			
* STATIST	ICS+ SOURCE STATEMENTS = 5	PROGRAM SIZE .	388		
+ST#*IST	ICS+ NO DIAGNOBTICS GENERATED				

MICHIGAN	TERMINAL	SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21.8)	CODRD	89-28-77	18:45:55	PAGE 9201
8891		SUBROUTINE CODAD(B,OT1,OT2,	XA, X8, Y1, A, D, X, Y,	2)	194,820	
9992		IMPLICIT REAL+8 (A=Z)			195.000	
	с.				196.000	
	c.	TO CALCULATE 3-D COORDINATES			197.000	
	с.				198,000	
8893		XP1=0T1+XA			199,000	
0004		xP2=012+XB			202,000	
0005		K£=8/(XP1-XP2)			201,000	
0076		XXXPjeKA			282.090	
8097		YWYIAKA			203,000	
8688		Z=A-D++A			284,000	
0009		RETURN			285,000	
8018		END			206.000	
*0PTI(*0PTI(*STAT)	DNS IN EF DNS IN EF ISTICS*	FECT+ ID,EBCDIC,SOURCE,NOLIST FECT+ NAME = COORD , LINECN Source Statements = 10 No piacostics generated	,NODECK,LDAD,NOMAI T = 57 ,PROGRAM BIZE =	p 664		

MICHIGAN	TERMINAL SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21.8)	CORECT	89-28-77	18145158	PAGE POBL
3001	SUBROUTINE CORECT(X,Y,XE,YE,	ANGLE)		287.800	
8995	IMPLICIT REAL+8 (A=H,O=Z)	-		288.000	
2223	TEHP#X			289.000	
P264	X=X+DCOS(ANGLE)+Y+DSIN(ANGLE)		212.200	
1005	YEY+DCOS(ANGLE)-TEMP+DSIN(AN	GLES		211.009	
0006	X#X+XE			212.000	
0007	Y=Y+YE			213,000	
1048	RETURN			214,000	
0009	END			215.000	
*0PTI	DNS IN EFFECT+ ID, EBCDIC, SOURCE, NOLIST,	NOPECK, LDAD, NOMAP			
#0PTI	DNS IN EFFECT: NAME = CORECT , LINEONT	. 57			
* 5 T A T 1	INTICS+ SOURCE STATEMENTS # 9,1	PROGRAM SIZE .	558		
*STAT:	ISTICS. NO DIAGNOSTICS GENERATED				

.

ICHIGAN	TERMINAL	SYSTEM	FORTRAN	9(21.8)	ORIENT	89-28-77	18145159	PAGE PORL
0001		SUBR	UTINE O	RIENT(X,Y,IAX	I8, XERR, YERR, ALPHA)		216.000	
60.95		[49]	CIT PEA	L+8 (A=H,D=Z)			217.000	
8083		CIMEN	SIGN X(3),*(3)			218.002	
8084		REAL.	8 LAMBD	4			219,000	
	с.						220.000	
	с.	TO ORI	ENT COO	ROINATE BYSTE	M OF X-RAY WITH THAT OF	THE	221.000	
	с.	HSRI -	BIOMED	NUMONICS DIG	ITIZER READ HEAD.		222.000	
	с.				•		223.000	
	ċ.	SLOPE	AND Y I	NTERCEPT OF L	INE WITH THO POINTS		224.000	
	с.						225.020	
0005		IF(X)	(1).EQ.¥	(2).OR.Y(1).E	G.Y(2)) GO TO 808		226.000	
POPA		SLOPE		Y(2))/(X(1)=X	(2))		227.000	
8887		YCPT	Y(1)-8L	OPE + X(1)			228.000	
0028		IF(I)	XIS.EQ.	-1) GO TO 688			229.000	
	٢.						230.077	
	ċ.	THO PO	TINTS ON	X AXTS			231.090	
	č.						232.000	
0009		TECY	(3).GT.Y	(1).0R.Y(3).6	T.Y(2)) GO TO 18		233.000	
010		STON	+1.9				234.000	
6011		TECT	11.1.1.1	(2)) GO TO 2			235.070	
0012		XIEX	(2)				236.080	
0013		YINY	(2)				237.000	
0014		60 70	15				238.000	
8415		2 11=21	10				239,000	
3016		YISY	1)				240.000	
4017		GC TO	5 15				241.000	
0018		18 9164	+1.0				242.208	
6819		TECY	1).GT.Y	(2)) 00 10 12			243.000	
4024		XINX	(2)				244.000	
0921		YINY	(2)				245.000	
8655		GO TO	1 1 4				246.800	
0023		12 X1#X	(1)				247.000	
2024		YINY	(1)				248.999	
8925		15 12.11	iii ii				249.080	
4426		¥2=¥	11				258.000	
	r						251.000	
		LOCATI	ORIGIN	AND DERCHINE	POTATION		252.089	
	÷.	LOCH					253.000	
8027	۰.	85741	DATANE	Y1=Y21/(X1=X2	13		254.000	
8928		ALPH	TANCATAN	(11)-1(2))/(********		255.000	
0029		THET		ABBIOFGIBETAS	1-DABBODEG(ALPHATT		256.000	
0010		01-(1	*****	*1-*21+(*1-*2) = (x 1 = x 2)		257.889	
8411		D1=01	087(01)		/		288 808	
8812		0=01		0/THETA33			250 689	
0.013		03.0	DCOS(AL	PHA)			260.000	
3014		× 6 • 7		N			241 080	
0015		Y	V	191085			242 848	
0015		TEMP	DEC(ALS				262,000	
0017		ALPH		ALPHA, BLOPFT			264.080	
9014		0. 1	n 9001941	ACL ON A DECKEY			245 000	
	~	U U 11	, - 10 6				344 000	
	÷.						200.000	
	<u>.</u>	140 41	17-19 04				207.070	
4415	۰.		1) 07 -				200,000	
	•	87/4		(1).08.8(3).0			204,000	
		0104					£/0,800	

ICHIGAN T	IERMINAL SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21.8)	ORIENT	89-28-77	18:45159	PAGE POB2
0041	IF(X(1).LT.X(2)) GO TO 682			371 444	
8947	X1=×(2)			272.000	
0843	¥1=¥(2)			273.020	
2044	GO TO 015			274.900	
8845	692 X1=X(1)			275 000	
0046	Y1=Y(1)			274 400	
0847	GO TO 015			277 000	
6846	A10 316N=-1.0			278 020	
0849	1F(X(1),GT,X(2)) GD TO 612			270 000	
0050	X1=X(2)			240 000	
0851	Y1=Y(2)			241 884	
8625	GO TO 615			242.000	
0053	612 X1=X(1)			343 444	
0954	¥1=¥(1)			28/ 403	
0855	615 ×2#×(3)			265 800	
8456	Y2=*(3)				
	c.			387 000	
	C. LOCATE DRIGIN AND DESCRIBE (OTATION			
	с.			289 888	
0057	PETAEDATAN((X1=X2)/(Y1=Y2))			200.000	
4858	ALPHANDATAN((X(1)=X(2))/(Y	1)-1(2)))		201.000	
1059	THETA=98.8-DABB(DEG(ALPHA))	-DABS (DEG(BETA))		202 000	
8868	D1=(x2-x1)+(x2-x1)+(y2-y1)	(12-11)		301 000	
AØ61	01=080RT(D1)			204 000	
5995	D=D1=DCOS(RAD(THETA))			205 000	
8963	D3=D+DCOS(ALPHA)			244 000	
PR64	X##X2+D3+51GN			207 000	
8865	Y8=SLOPE=X8+YCPT			298 000	
8900	TEMP DEG(ALPHA)			200 000	
4867	ALPHAN-1.0+DSIGN(ALPHA, BLOP	e)		190 000	
8868	GC TO 900			141,000	
8869	ADD ALPHA=0.0			302.000	
P 9 7 8	XEPRa=X(1)			101.000	
8071	YERR +Y(3)			104.000	
0672	IF(IAXIS,EG,1)XERR==X(3)			305.000	
8073	IF(IAX15,EQ,1)YERR=+Y(1)			386.888	
8874	RETURN			377.000	
9075	908 XERR==1,8=(X8=DC08(ALPHA)++	Ø+DBIN(ALPHA))		348.000	
8876	YERRa-1.8+(YB+DCOS(ALPHA)->	B=08IN(ALPHA))		389.800	
8677	RETURN			310.000	
8978	END			311,000	
+OPTIONS	S IN EFFECTA ID, ERCOIC, SOURCE, NOLIST	, NODECK, LOAD, NOMAP			
UPTIONS	B IN EFFECTA NAME & ORIENT , LINECH	T = 57			
****I31	FILS BOURCE STATEMENTS # 78	PROGRAM SIZE =	2242		
	TICSO NO DIACNESTICO CENEDATER				

HICHIGAN	TERMINAL	SYSTEM	FORTRAN	G(21.8)	RAXIS	89-28-77	18146188	PAGE POØ1
2001		SUBR	OUTINE P	AXIS (XIN. YI	N.ZIN.N.NAME)		312.000	
0002		REAL	+8 XINC	0).YIN(20).	ZIN(20)		313.000	
0003		REAL	+8 A(3)	8(3),C(3),D	T.X.Y.Z.BX.BY.BZ		314.000	
0004		1061	CAL +1 N	HF(24.29)			315.000	
01.04	r	2001					316.000	
	č.	CALCU	ATE Y-A	YTS DIRECTT	ONAL COSTNES		317 888	
	· ·			and process	CARE COOLIES		318 000	
0.045	۰.	0=(1						130 000
0.66.7		1/71	(1)=7164		-778(3))	(2))=()1=(1)=(1=(1)	330 000	320.000
1004		0=09					121,000	
0000		1 - 0 - 3					321.000	
0001		5(1)	E(VIN(5)	-XIN(1))/D			322.000	
0000		8(2)	HLAIN(5)	-71N(13370			323.000	
8664	_	8(3)	=(ZIN(2)	=ZIN(1))/D			324.000	
	с.						325,000	
	с.	CALCU	LATET				326.000	
	с.						327.000	
0010		T≡((XIN(3)=)	(IN(2))*(XIN	(2) = XIN(1)) + (YIN(3) = YI	N(2))+(YIN(2)-YIN	(1)) 328,000,	329,000
		1+(ZI	N(3)-ZIM	N(2)) + (ZIN(2)=ZIN(1)))/(D+D)		329.000	
2011		X=XI	N(2)+T+I	(XIN(2) = XIN(1))		330,000	
9012		YEYI	N(2)+T+1	YIN(2)-YIN(1))		331.000	
0013		7871	N(2)+T+I	ZIN(2)-ZIN(11)		332.000	
2014		WRIT	F(2.110	X.Y.7	•••		333,000	
0015		10 FORM	ATCONF	ORTGIN AT	1./1 X81.FA.3/1 Y81.FA	3/1 781.FA.31	114.000	
	r				,, x= ,,,, i= ,		115 444	
		CALCU		ATS STREETT	ONAL COSTNER		116 000	
		CALCO		NIS DIRECTI	CAPE CODINES		117 000	
	۰.		*****				337.000	
0410			14(2)-X	1=(XIN(3)=X)	+(+1+(3)=+)+(+1+(3)++)	+(21N(3)=2)*(21N(330.000	
		17					330,000	
9017		0=05	GRI(D)				334.060	
8010		A(1)	=(XIN(3)	=x)/D			340.000	
0919		A(2)	#(YIN(3)	1=Y)/D			341.000	
ve20		A(3)	=(ZIN(3)	-2)/0			342.000	
	с.						343.000	
	с.	CALCU	LATE Z /	XIS DIRECTI	ONAL COSINES		344.000	
	с.						345.000	
3951		C(1)	#A(2)*B:	(3)=A(3)+8(2)		346.000	
8422		C (2)	#A(3)+8	(1)=A(1)+B(3)		347.000	
0023		C (3)	#A(1)#8	(2)=A(2)+B(1)		348.000	
	с.						149.000	
	ċ.	RECALCU	LATE DAT	TA TO NEW CO	ORDINATE SYSTEM		350.000	
	č.						151,000	
0924	••	00.9	A T#1.N				152 000	
2025			TNITIAY				151 600	
3426							353.000	
0020		97-7	14(1)-7				354,800	
4438		67-1	14617-2				355.000	
0020		64.0		ALZINDITAL3	J=02J=(-1.0)		356.668	
0027		LT#(011778X	012188148(3	17021		357.000	
0030		CX#C	C(1)#9X4	FL(2)#87+C(3	J#8Z)		358,000	
0031		WHIT	E(2,104)	(NAME(J,I),	J=1,24)		359,000	
0935	1	84 FORM	ATCODIAL	GETE ",24A1	1		360.000	
0033		WRIT	E(2,105)	XIN(I),CX,Y	IN(I),CY,ZIN(I),CZ		361.000	
8034	1	05 FORM	AT(" OL) X:",F10,3,	" NEW X:", F10,3/	. OLD Y1",	18. 362.000,	363,000
		13,	NEW Y	1",F10.3/	' OLD ZI',F18.	3, * NEW Z1*, F10.	3) 363,000,	364,089
0035		98 CONT	INUE				365,000	
2236		#RIT	E(2,150)	1			366, P88	

MICHIGAN TER	PMINAL SYSTEM FORTRAN G(21.8)	RAXIS	89-28-77	18146188	PAGE P002
0037 0038 0039	150 FORMAT(///) Return End			367.000	
+OPTIONS +OPTIONS	IN EFFECT+ ID, EBCDIC, SOURCE, NOLIST, IN EFFECT+ NAME = RAXIS , LINECN	NODECK,LOAD,NOHAP		384,040	
*STATIST: *STATIST:	ICS* SOURCE STATEMENTS = 39, ICS* NO DIAGNOSTICS GENERATED	PROGRAM BIZE .	1612		

NO STATEMENTS FLAGGED IN THE "ABOVE COMPILATIONS.

.

C. Experimental Outline for Systems Anthropometry Data Collection

Films 3

4

2

- X-Ray Calibration
- 2. X-Ray Survey of Specimen
 - 1) A-P Lumbar
 - 2) A-P Pelvis
 - 3) A-P Femur, including Knee
 - 4) Lateral Pelvis

3. Anthropometry

- 4. Surface-Internal Landmark Correlation
 - Specimen in supine position on 1/4" plywood sheet on xray table, wedge blocks above and below pelvis on both sides;
 - a) Surface Landmarks on Pelvis and Femur
 - (1) Right ASIS
 - (2) Left ASIS
 - (3) Symphysion
 - (4) Right Pubic Tubercle
 - (5) Left Pubic Tubercle
 - (6) Right Greater Trochanter-Trochanterion
 - b) Stereo-pair
 - (1) A-P Pelvis--1.1. Landmarks
 - c) Internal Landmarks
 - (1) Right ASIS
 - (2) Left ASIS
 - (3) Symphysion
 - (4) Right Pubic Tubercle
 - (5) Left Pubic Tubercle
 - (6) Right Greater Trochanter--Trochanterion
 - (7) Right Greater Trochanter--2 landmarks for axis system

- d) Stereo-pairs
 - (1) A-P Pelvis--Landmarks
- Specimen in prone position on 1/4" plywood sheet on x-ray table, with wedge blocks above and below pelvis on both sides.
 - a) Surface Landmarks on L/5 and Pelvis
 - (1) Right PSIS
 - (2) Left PSIS
 - (3) Spine amidway between Rt + Lt PSIS Landmarks.

2

- b) Stereo-Pair
 - (1) P-A Pelvis--SURFACE Landmark
- c) Internal Landmarks
 - (1) Spine of L5
 - (2) Right PSIS
 - (3) Left PSIS
 - (4) Spine of S1
- d) Stereo-Pair
 - (1) P-A Pelvis--INTERNAL Landmark
- 5. Preparation for Motion Study
 - With specimen in autopsy room, in prone position, mount on short-board rigidly.
 - 2) X-Ray calibration check 3
 - Position specimen on x-ray table in supine position, clamp specimen board to x-ray table with C-clamps and 2" x 4" boards.
 - a) Stereo-Pairs--PLANAR MOTION (FRONTAL)
 - (1) Initial position--feet together (@90°) 2
 - (2) Abduction--Aduction
 - (a) 100°
 - (b) 110°
 - (c) 120°
 - (d) 130°

(e) 140° (f) 150° (g) 160° b) Stereo-Pairs--PLANAR MOTION (TRANSVERSE) (1) Initial Position--foot straight up (0°) (2) Rotation 10 (a) 30° Outboard н 60° (b) 11 (c) 90° (d) 30° Inboard 11 (e) 60° 4) Position specimen on x-ray table in lateral position, with iron door stop, C-clamps, and 2 x 4's, and shim torso with blocks. a) Stereo-Pairs--PLANAR MOTION (PARA SAGITTAL) (1) Initial position--leg in standing position (0°) 2 (2) Flexion (a) 20° (b) 40° (c) 60° (d) 80° (e) 100°

2

12

(f) 120°

D. Landmark Definitions used in X-Ray Stereo-Photogrammetry Study

Anterior Superior Iliac Spine (ASIS): With the specimen in the supine anatomical position, palpate and mark the most anterior point on the superior iliac spine.

- Symphysion: With the specimen in the supine anatomical position palpate and mark the most superior point on the ventral rim of the pubic symphysis.
- Pubic Tubercle: With the specimen in the supine anatomical position, palpate and mark the most anterior point on the pubic tubercle.
- Trochanterion: With the specimen in the supine anatomical position, palpate and mark the most superior point on the greater trochanter of the femur.
- L5 Spine: With the specimen in the prone anatomical position, palpate and mark the most posterior point on the dorsal spine of the fifth lumbar vertebra.
- S1 Spine: With the specimen in the prone anatomical position, palpate and mark the most posterior point on the first dorsal spine of the sacral body.
- Posterior Superior Iliac Spine (PSIS): With the specimen in the prone anatomical position, palpate and mark the most posterior point on the superior iliac spine.

) • - ÷ . 3 • . * •

. • 4 ` • . •